US BANCORP \DE\ Form 424B3 June 04, 2010

Filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) Registration Statement No. 333-166706

PROSPECTUS AND CONSENT SOLICITATION STATEMENT

Offer to Exchange

Up to 1,250,000 Depositary Shares, Each Representing a 1/100th Interest in a Share of Series A Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, \$100,000 liquidation preference per share (the Depositary Shares) for

Any and all of the 1,250,000 outstanding 6.189% Fixed-to-Floating Rate Normal ITS issued by USB Capital IX, each with a liquidation amount of \$1,000 (the Normal ITS) CUSIP No. 91731K AA 8 and

Solicitation of Consents for Proposed Amendments to the Related Trust Agreement and Junior Subordinated Indenture

THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND THE CONSENT SOLICITATION WILL EXPIRE AT 11:59 P.M., NEW YORK CITY

TIME, ON JUNE 7, 2010, UNLESS THE OFFER IS EXTENDED OR EARLIER TERMINATED BY US (THE

EXPIRATION DATE). TENDERS MAY BE WITHDRAWN, AND CONSENTS MAY BE REVOKED, AT ANY TIME AT OR PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION DATE.

We are offering to exchange up to 1,250,000 Depositary Shares for any and all of the 1,250,000 outstanding Normal ITS issued by USB Capital IX (the Trust), on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement and in the accompanying letter of transmittal and consent (the Letter of Transmittal and Consent). We refer to this offer as the Exchange Offer.

For each Normal ITS that we accept for exchange in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Offer, the tendering holder will receive one Depositary Share. Each Depositary Share represents a 1/100th ownership interest in a share of our Series A Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, \$100,000 liquidation preference per share (the Preferred Stock). We will also pay cash in an amount equal to any accrued and unpaid distributions on each Normal ITS accepted in the Exchange Offer up to, but excluding, the settlement date (defined below), which, assuming the Exchange Offer expires on the current Expiration Date of June 7, 2010, will be \$9.46 for each Normal ITS. Each share of Preferred Stock will be identical in all respects to the Preferred Stock to be issued upon settlement of the stock purchase contracts forming part of the Normal ITS, except that non-cumulative dividends, if declared, will accrue on the Preferred Stock underlying the Depositary Shares at a rate of 7.189% *per annum* until the later of April 15, 2011 and the stock purchase date (defined below). During that same period, holders of the Normal ITS will be entitled to receive distributions at a rate of 6.189% *per annum*.

In conjunction with the Exchange Offer, we are also hereby soliciting (the Consent Solicitation) consents (the Consents) from holders of at least a majority in liquidation amount of the Normal ITS (which corresponds to at least a majority of the Normal ITS) to the Proposed Amendments (defined below). Holders of Normal ITS may deliver Consents in respect of their Normal ITS in the Consent Solicitation without also tendering such Normal ITS into the Exchange Offer. Such holders will be eligible to receive a cash consent fee of \$1.25 (the Consent Fee) for each Normal ITS for which a Consent is properly received and not properly withdrawn at or prior to the Expiration Date. However, such holders will not receive the Depositary Shares to be issued in the Exchange Offer and will only receive the Consent Fee. The Consent Fee is equal to 0.125% of the liquidation amount of each Normal ITS.

We encourage you to read and carefully consider this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement in its entirety, in particular the risk factors beginning on page 24.

The Normal ITS are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol USBTP. We intend to apply for listing of the Depositary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol USB Pr A. If approved for listing, we expect trading of the Depositary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange to commence within a 30-day period after the initial delivery of the Depositary Shares.

None of U.S. Bancorp, the trustees of the Trust, the Dealer Managers, the Information and Exchange Agent or any other person is making any recommendation as to whether you should tender your Normal ITS or consent to the Proposed Amendments. You must make your own decision after reading this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement and the documents incorporated by reference herein and consulting with your advisor.

The Depositary Shares are not savings accounts, deposits or other obligations of any of our bank or non-bank subsidiaries and are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other governmental agency.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC), any state securities commission, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, nor any other regulatory body has approved or disapproved of the Exchange Offer or of the securities to be issued in the Exchange Offer or determined if this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Lead Dealer Manager and Structuring Advisor
Deutsche Bank Securities

Co-Dealer Manager U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc.

June 4, 2010

Table of Contents

Normal ITS validly tendered and not withdrawn will be subject to proration as described in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement if we determine there is any likelihood that the New York Stock Exchange continued-listing condition described below may not be satisfied based on consultation with the New York Stock Exchange. Any proration will not revoke a holder s Consents to the Proposed Amendments. If proration occurs, a holder will receive the Consent Fee with respect to all validly tendered Normal ITS that were not accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer due to such proration.

In the Consent Solicitation, upon the terms and subject to the conditions specified in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement, we are soliciting Consents from holders of at least a majority in liquidation amount of the Normal ITS (which corresponds to at least a majority of the Normal ITS) to the following proposed amendments (the Proposed Amendments):

proposed amendments to the trust agreement of the Trust that would allow us to retire the Normal ITS that we acquire in the Exchange Offer and authorize the trustees of the Trust to approve the proposed amendments to the collateral agreement and stock purchase contract agreement described below,

proposed amendments to the indenture pursuant to which the junior subordinated notes which currently underlie the Normal ITS were issued that we believe will facilitate the remarketing of the junior subordinated notes, and

proposed amendments to the collateral agreement and stock purchase contract agreement relating to the Normal ITS that would allow for the settlement of the Exchange Offer and the related cancellation of the junior subordinated notes and stock purchase contracts that correspond to the Normal ITS acquired in the Exchange Offer.

For more information on the Consent Solicitation and the Proposed Amendments, see The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation The Consent Solicitation.

Holders that validly tender their Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer will be required to, and will be deemed to have, validly delivered their Consents. Holders of Normal ITS may validly deliver their Consents without tendering the related Normal ITS. If the requisite Consents are received and the Proposed Amendments become operative, we will pay each holder of Normal ITS that validly delivers and does not validly revoke Consents in respect of such Normal ITS, without also tendering its Normal ITS into the Exchange Offer, the Consent Fee of \$1.25 for each Normal ITS for which a Consent is properly received and not properly withdrawn at or prior to the Expiration Date. Such holders, however, will not receive the Depositary Shares to be issued in the Exchange Offer and will only receive the Consent Fee. The Consent Fee is equal to 0.125% of the liquidation amount of each Normal ITS.

The purpose of the Exchange Offer is to improve our capital structure by replacing the Normal ITS, which are hybrid securities, with the Preferred Stock, which is a more traditional form of equity capital. In addition, by retiring the junior subordinated notes that correspond to the Normal ITS that we acquire in the Exchange Offer, we believe we will facilitate any future remarketing of the junior subordinated notes. We aim to further facilitate any such remarketing by adopting the Proposed Amendments in the Consent Solicitation.

The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation will expire at 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on June 7, 2010 (unless we extend it). We refer to such date and time (as it may be extended) as the Expiration Date. You may withdraw any Normal ITS that you tender at any time prior to the Expiration Date (and, if not previously accepted for exchange, after the expiration of 40 business days commencing on May 10, 2010). A valid withdrawal of the Normal ITS will be deemed a revocation of any related Consents. Consents delivered that are

accompanied by a tender of Normal ITS may only be validly revoked by validly withdrawing the corresponding previously-tendered Normal ITS at or prior to the Expiration Date. Any Consents delivered that are not accompanied by a tender of Normal ITS may be revoked at any time at or prior to the Expiration Date.

The Depositary Shares will be issued, and Consent Fees will be paid, on the settlement date for the Exchange Offer, assuming that the conditions to such payments are satisfied. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer, the settlement date for the Exchange Offer will occur promptly following the Expiration Date. Assuming that the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation are not extended, we expect that the settlement date will be on or about the third business day following the Expiration Date.

Table of Contents

The Exchange Offer is subject to the conditions set forth below in the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Conditions of the Exchange Offer, including, among other things:

the SEC having declared effective the registration statement of which this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement forms a part (which condition cannot be waived by us),

the receipt of valid Consents from holders of at least a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS approving the Proposed Amendments, and

the continued listing of the Normal ITS on the New York Stock Exchange after the settlement date (which condition cannot be waived by us).

Our obligation to consummate the exchange of Depositary Shares for Normal ITS is not subject to any minimum tender condition. We reserve the right, subject to applicable law, to terminate or extend the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation if any condition of the Exchange Offer is not satisfied or waived by the Expiration Date and otherwise to amend the terms of the Exchange Offer in any respect.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Important</u>	ii
Where You Can Find More Information	ii
Forward-Looking Statements	iii
Questions and Answers About the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation	1
Summary	9
Risk Factors	24
Selected Financial Data	30
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>	32
Capitalization	33
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends	34
The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation (Conflicts of Interest)	35
Description of Preferred Stock	51
Description of Depositary Shares	58
Comparison of Rights Between the Normal ITS and the Depositary Shares	61
Certain Terms of the Replacement Capital Covenant	64
Book-Entry Issuance	65
<u>Management</u>	66
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences	73
Benefit Plan Investor Considerations	81
Legal Matters	82
<u>Experts</u>	82

This Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement is part of a registration statement on Form S-4 that we have filed with the SEC. You should carefully read this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement, together with the registration statement, the exhibits thereto and the additional information described below under Where You Can Find More Information, prior to deciding whether or not to tender your Normal ITS.

This Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement incorporates by reference important business and financial information about us that is not included in or delivered with this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. This information is available without charge to you upon written or oral request. If you would like a copy of any of this information, please submit your request to U.S. Bancorp, 800 Nicollet Mall, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402, Attention: Investor Relations Department ((612) 303-0799 or (866) 775-9668). In order to ensure timely delivery of such documents, you must request this information no later than five business days before the date you must make your investment decision. Accordingly, you should make any request for documents by May 28, 2010 to ensure timely delivery of documents prior to the Expiration Date.

We have not authorized anyone to provide any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. We take no responsibility for, and can provide no assurance as to the reliability of, any other information that others may give you. You should assume that the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement is accurate only as of the date hereof or as of the date of the document incorporated by reference, as applicable. We are not making an offer of these securities in any jurisdiction where such offer is not permitted.

IMPORTANT

All of the Normal ITS were issued in book-entry form, and all of the Normal ITS are currently represented by one or more global certificates held for the account of The Depository Trust Company (DTC). You may tender your Normal ITS by transferring the Normal ITS through DTC s Automated Tender Offer Program (ATOP) or following the other procedures described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation.

We are not providing for guaranteed delivery procedures and therefore you must allow sufficient time for the necessary tender procedures to be completed during normal business hours of DTC at or prior to the Expiration Date of the Exchange Offer. If you hold your Normal ITS through a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee, you should consider that such entity may require you to take action with respect to the Exchange Offer a number of days before the Expiration Date in order for such entity to tender Normal ITS on your behalf at or prior to the Expiration Date. Tenders not received by D.F. King & Co., Inc., as information and exchange agent for the Exchange Offer (the Information and Exchange Agent), at or prior to the Expiration Date will be disregarded and of no effect.

Unless otherwise indicated or unless the context requires otherwise, all references to we, us, our or similar references mean U.S. Bancorp.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any document we file at the SEC s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can also request copies of the documents, upon payment of a duplicating fee, by writing the Public Reference Section of the SEC. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. These SEC filings are also available to the public from the SEC s web site at http://www.sec.gov.

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference the information we file with the SEC, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information we incorporate by reference is considered to be part of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. Information that we file later with the SEC will automatically update information in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. We also filed a Schedule TO, as amended from time to time, pursuant to Rule 13e-1 under the Exchange Act (the Schedule TO) in connection with the Exchange Offer. We will amend the Schedule TO to report any material changes to the information set forth therein, including to incorporate by reference any additional documents filed by us after the date hereof pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. In all cases, you should rely on the later information over different information included in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below and any documents subsequently filed (but not documents that are furnished, unless expressly incorporated herein by a reference in such furnished document) with the SEC under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act on or after the date of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement and before the completion of the Exchange Offer:

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009;

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010; and

Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on January 20, 2010 (two reports), February 4, 2010, February 18, 2010, March 10, 2010, April 20, 2010 (two reports), April 22, 2010 and May 10, 2010.

You may request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address:

U.S. Bancorp 800 Nicollet Mall Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402 Attention: Investor Relations Department (612) 303-0799 or (866) 775-9668

ii

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement contains or incorporates by reference forward-looking statements about U.S. Bancorp. Statements that are not historical or current facts, including statements about beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking statements and are based on the information available to, and assumptions and estimates made by, management as of the date made. These forward-looking statements cover, among other things, anticipated future revenue and expenses and the future plans and prospects of U.S. Bancorp. Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, and important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated. Global and domestic economies could fail to recover from the recent economic downturn or could experience another severe contraction, which could adversely affect our revenues and the values of our assets and liabilities. Global financial markets could experience a recurrence of significant turbulence, which could reduce the availability of funding to certain financial institutions and lead to a tightening of credit, a reduction of business activity, and increased market volatility. Stress in the commercial real estate markets, as well as a delay or failure of recovery in the residential real estate markets, could cause additional credit losses and deterioration in asset values. In addition, our business and financial performance could be impacted as the financial industry restructures in the current environment, by increased regulation of financial institutions or other effects of recently enacted or future legislation, and by changes in the competitive landscape. Our results could also be adversely affected by continued deterioration in general business and economic conditions; changes in interest rates; deterioration in the credit quality of our loan portfolios or in the value of the collateral securing those loans; deterioration in the value of securities held in our investment securities portfolio; legal and regulatory developments; increased competition from both banks and non-banks; changes in customer behavior and preferences; effects of mergers and acquisitions and related integration; effects of critical accounting policies and judgments; and management s ability to effectively manage credit risk, market risk, operational risk, legal risk, and regulatory and compliance risk.

For discussion of these and other risks that may cause actual results to differ from expectations, refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, which is incorporated herein by reference, including the sections entitled Risk Factors and Corporate Risk Profile contained in Exhibit 13, and all subsequent filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

iii

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND THE CONSENT SOLICITATION

The following are certain questions regarding the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation that you may have as a holder of the Normal ITS and the answers to those questions. To fully understand the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation and the considerations that may be important to your decision whether to participate, you should carefully read this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement in its entirety, including the section below entitled Risk Factors, as well as the information incorporated by reference herein. For further information about us, see the section above entitled Where You Can Find More Information.

Who is making the Exchange Offer?

U.S. Bancorp, the issuer of the Preferred Stock that will underlie the Depositary Shares, is making the Exchange Offer to holders of Normal ITS issued by the Trust.

What is the purpose of the Exchange Offer?

We are conducting the Exchange Offer in order to improve our capital structure by replacing the Normal ITS, which are hybrid securities, with the Preferred Stock, which is a more traditional form of equity capital. In addition, by retiring the junior subordinated notes that correspond to the Normal ITS that we acquire in the Exchange Offer, we believe we will facilitate any future remarketing of the junior subordinated notes underlying the Normal ITS. We intend to further facilitate any future remarketing by adopting the Proposed Amendments in the Consent Solicitation.

The Normal ITS represent undivided beneficial interests in the Trust. The sole assets and only source of funds to make payments on the Normal ITS are junior subordinated notes that we issued to the Trust, which we refer to as the Underlying Notes, and certain stock purchase contracts, which we refer to as the stock purchase contracts, pursuant to which the Trust is obligated to purchase shares of Preferred Stock from us on a date, which we refer to as the Stock Purchase Date, that we expect to be April 15, 2011 but which could be deferred for quarterly periods until as late as April 15, 2012.

The Normal ITS are currently treated as a restricted form of tier 1 capital under the capital adequacy guidelines for bank holding companies as promulgated by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, which we refer to as the Federal Reserve. The Preferred Stock issued in connection with the Exchange Offer will be treated as an unrestricted form of tier 1 capital under such capital adequacy guidelines. These guidelines place greater limitations on the amount of restricted tier 1 capital that we may have.

The Underlying Notes are currently recorded as indebtedness on our balance sheet. Exchanging the Normal ITS for Preferred Stock in the Exchange Offer will result in an increase in our total shareholders—equity, as a result of the increase to our equity in the form of preferred stock and a corresponding reduction to our outstanding indebtedness due to the cancellation of the aggregate principal amount of Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS that are exchanged. However, the issuance of Depositary Shares in exchange for Normal ITS will result in additional distributions being paid by us of \$8.47 per Depositary Share from the settlement date until April 15, 2011. For additional information regarding the effects of the Exchange Offer on our capitalization, see the section below entitled Capitalization.

In order to provide the Trust with the funds necessary to pay the purchase price of the Preferred Stock under the stock purchase contracts, the Trust is obligated to attempt to sell the Underlying Notes in a process referred to as

remarketing. Pursuant to a remarketing agreement, the Trust must first attempt to remarket the Underlying Notes approximately one month prior to the Stock Purchase Date and must continue to attempt to remarket the Underlying Notes on a quarterly basis until the earlier of a successful remarketing and March 15,

1

Table of Contents

2012, subject to certain limitations, conditions and other requirements. As a result of the Exchange Offer, we expect to reduce the number of Normal ITS that are outstanding and to retire the Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS that are accepted for exchange. This will reduce the aggregate principal amount of Underlying Notes that the Trust will be required to remarket, which we believe will facilitate the remarketing. A successful remarketing would benefit us because it would result in our receiving cash payments upon the settlement of the stock purchase contracts that correspond to the Normal ITS. If an attempted remarketing fails, our receipt of any cash proceeds from the sale of the remarketed Underlying Notes would be delayed, and if all remarketing attempts fail, the Underlying Notes would be returned to us in full satisfaction of the Trust's obligation to pay the purchase price for the Preferred Stock and we would not receive any cash proceeds from a sale of the remarketed Underlying Notes.

What is the purpose of the Consent Solicitation?

The purpose of the Consent Solicitation is to obtain Consents from the holders of Normal ITS to certain amendments, which we refer to as the Proposed Amendments, to the amended and restated trust agreement of the Trust, which we refer to as the Trust Agreement, the junior subordinated indenture governing the Underlying Notes, which we refer to as the Indenture, and the collateral agreement and stock purchase contract agreement relating to the Normal ITS. The proposed amendments to the Trust Agreement would allow us to retire the Normal ITS that we acquire in the Exchange Offer and would authorize the trustees of the Trust to approve the amendments and modifications to the collateral agreement and stock purchase contract agreement. The proposed amendments to the Indenture would permit additional flexibility in the terms, conditions and requirements applicable to the remarketing, which we believe will further facilitate a remarketing. The proposed amendments to the collateral agreement would allow the Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS acquired by us in the Exchange Offer to be released from their pledge and delivered to us for cancellation, and the proposed amendments to the stock purchase contract agreement would allow the cancellation of the stock purchase contracts corresponding to the Normal ITS acquired by us in the Exchange Offer and for the future issuance of Preferred Stock upon settlement of the Exchange Offer and the stock purchase contracts as a result of the Exchange Offer. Pursuant to the terms of the Trust Agreement and the Indenture, the Proposed Amendments require the receipt of Consents in respect of at least a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS (which corresponds to at least a majority of the outstanding Normal ITS). For a more detailed description of the Consent Solicitation and the Proposed Amendments, see the sections below entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation and The Proposed Amendments.

What securities are subject to the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation?

We are offering to exchange the Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer and are soliciting Consents with respect to Normal ITS in the Consent Solicitation.

Each Normal ITS represents a beneficial interest in \$1,000 principal amount of Underlying Notes and a 1/100th interest in a stock purchase contract, under which the Trust agrees to purchase, and we agree to sell, for \$100,000, a share of Preferred Stock on the Stock Purchase Date. The Trust has pledged the Underlying Notes to secure the Trust s obligations under the stock purchase contracts.

We are not offering to exchange any Stripped ITS or Capital ITS (each as defined below) in the Exchange Offer and are not seeking the Consents of holders of Stripped ITS or Capital ITS in the Consent Solicitation. As of the date hereof there were no Stripped ITS or Capital ITS outstanding.

What are the key terms of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation?

In the Exchange Offer, we are offering to exchange up to 1,250,000 Depositary Shares, each representing a 1/100th ownership interest in a share of our Preferred Stock, for any and all of our 1,250,000 outstanding Normal ITS, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement and in the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent. You will receive one Depositary Share for each Normal ITS that is validly tendered and accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer.

2

Table of Contents

In the Consent Solicitation, we are soliciting the Consents of holders of Normal ITS to the Proposed Amendments. The Consent Solicitation is being conducted upon the terms and subject to the conditions specified in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement, as more particularly described in The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation The Consent Solicitation and The Proposed Amendments.

What consideration are we offering in exchange for the Normal ITS tendered in the Exchange Offer?

For each Normal ITS that we accept for exchange in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Offer, the tendering holder will receive one Depositary Share, representing a 1/100th ownership interest in a share of our Preferred Stock. A Depositary Share represents the same fraction of a share of Preferred Stock that the Trust would receive upon settlement of the stock purchase contract underlying each Normal ITS that you tender into the Exchange Offer. We will also pay cash in the amount of any accrued and unpaid distributions on each Normal ITS accepted in the Exchange Offer up to, but excluding, the settlement date of the Exchange Offer, which, assuming the Exchange Offer expires on the current Expiration Date of June 7, 2010, will be \$9.46 for each normal ITS.

What are the terms of the Preferred Stock?

Each share of Preferred Stock will be identical in all respects to the Preferred Stock to be issued upon settlement of the stock purchase contracts forming part of the Normal ITS, except that non-cumulative dividends, if declared, will accrue on the Preferred Stock underlying the Depositary Shares at a rate of 7.189% *per annum* until the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date. During that same period, holders of the Normal ITS will be entitled to receive distributions at a rate of 6.189% *per annum*. See Description of Preferred Stock.

The specific terms of the Preferred Stock will be specified in an amended certificate of designations adopted by our board of directors and filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware prior to the settlement date. The terms of the Preferred Stock will provide that if dividends on any shares of the Preferred Stock or any other class or series of preferred stock that ranks on parity with the Preferred Stock as to payment of dividends with similar voting rights have not been declared or paid for the equivalent of six dividend payments, whether or not for consecutive dividend periods, holders of the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock, together with holders of any other series of our preferred stock ranking equal with the Preferred Stock with similar voting rights, will be entitled to vote for the election of two additional directors to our board, subject to the terms and to the limited extent described under Description of Preferred Stock Voting. The terms of the Preferred Stock will provide voting rights with respect to authorizing or increasing the authorized amount of senior stock, or to making certain changes in the terms of the Preferred Stock. These amendments are being made to facilitate the listing of the Depositary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange.

What consideration are we offering in exchange for the Consents delivered in the Consent Solicitation?

If you validly tender your Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer you will be required to, and will be deemed to have, validly delivered your Consents to the Proposed Amendments. If the Exchange Offer is consummated, you will receive one Depositary Share for each Normal ITS accepted by us for exchange, and you will not receive the Consent Fee or any other separate consideration for your Consent. If, however, proration occurs, you will receive the Consent Fee with respect to all validly tendered Normal ITS that were not accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer due to such proration, but you will still be deemed to have delivered a Consent to the Proposed Amendments with respect to all such Normal ITS.

Alternatively, you may validly deliver your Consents without tendering your related Normal ITS. If the requisite Consents are received and the Proposed Amendments become operative, we will pay each holder of Normal ITS that validly delivers and does not validly revoke Consents in respect of such Normal ITS without also tendering its Normal ITS into the Exchange Offer, the Consent Fee of \$1.25 for each Normal ITS for which a Consent is properly received

and not properly withdrawn at or prior to the Expiration Date. However, you will not receive the Depositary Shares to be issued in the Exchange Offer and, if the Exchange Offer is

3

Table of Contents

consummated, would only receive the Consent Fee. The Consent Fee is equal to 0.125% of the liquidation amount of each Normal ITS. If the requisite Consents are received and the Proposed Amendments become operative, all holders of Normal ITS who validly deliver and do not validly revoke their Consents without tendering their Normal ITS into the Exchange Offer will be entitled to the Consent Fee, and the Consent Fee will be paid to such holders, regardless of whether the requisite Consents are delivered through tenders of Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or separately. The Consent Solicitation is not conditioned on a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS being tendered for exchange in the Exchange Offer.

What amount of Normal ITS must Consent to the Proposed Amendments in order for the Proposed Amendments to be adopted?

In order to be adopted, the Proposed Amendments must be consented to by the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding aggregate liquidation amount of the Normal ITS, which corresponds to at least a majority of the Normal ITS outstanding.

Will we exchange all of the Normal ITS tendered?

We may not accept for exchange all of the Normal ITS that you tender in the Exchange Offer. It is a condition to the Exchange Offer that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and, therefore, if accepting all of the Normal ITS would cause the Normal ITS to be de-listed, we will reduce the number of Normal ITS sought and accept a *pro rata* amount of the Normal ITS tendered in the Exchange Offer by all holders in the aggregate to ensure that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the consummation of the Exchange Offer. Any Normal ITS tendered but not accepted because of proration will be returned to you promptly after the Expiration Date. We intend to accept all validly tendered Normal ITS other than the minimum number necessary to ensure that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the consummation of the Exchange Offer. For a more detailed description of the proration procedures and the listing condition, see the sections below entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Proration and Conditions of the Exchange Offer.

How will proration affect my Consents to the Proposed Amendments?

We intend that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and, therefore, if accepting all of the Normal ITS would cause the Normal ITS to be de-listed, we will reduce the number of Normal ITS sought and accept a *pro rata* amount of the Normal ITS tendered in the Exchange Offer by all holders in the aggregate to ensure that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the consummation of the Exchange Offer. The New York Stock Exchange will consider de-listing the outstanding Normal ITS if (1) the aggregate market value of the Normal ITS is less than \$4 million (which would occur if greater than 99% of the outstanding Normal ITS were tendered into the Exchange Offer, based on the \$1,000 liquidation amount per Normal ITS) or (2) for any other reason based on the suitability for the continued listing of the Normal ITS in light of all pertinent facts as determined by the New York Stock Exchange.

Proration will not revoke Consents to the Proposed Amendments. Therefore, if we do not accept all of your validly tendered Normal ITS due to proration, you will still be deemed to have delivered your Consents with respect to all of your validly tendered Normal ITS, even those that are not accepted for exchange. If proration occurs, you will receive the Consent Fee with respect to all validly tendered Normal ITS that were not accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer due to such proration.

May I tender only a portion of the Normal ITS that I hold?

Yes. You do not have to tender all of your Normal ITS to participate in the Exchange Offer. However, you must tender whole numbers of Normal ITS.

Are we making a recommendation regarding whether you should tender in the Exchange Offer?

None of us, the trustees of the Trust, the Dealer Managers, the Information and Exchange Agent, or any other person are making any recommendation regarding whether you should tender or refrain from tendering your Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or deliver your Consents pursuant to the Consent Solicitation.

4

Table of Contents

Accordingly, you must make your own determination as to whether to tender your Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or deliver your Consents pursuant to the Consent Solicitation and, if so, the number of Normal ITS to tender or for which to deliver a Consent. Before making your decision, we urge you to carefully read this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement in its entirety, including the information set forth in the section entitled Risk Factors, and the other documents incorporated by reference. The value of the Depositary Shares issued in the Exchange Offer may not equal or exceed the value of the Normal ITS tendered. You must make your own independent decision regarding your participation in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation.

Will the Depositary Shares to be delivered in the Exchange Offer be freely tradable and listed for trading?

Yes, the Depositary Shares you receive upon settlement of the Exchange Offer will be freely tradable, unless you are considered an affiliate of ours, as that term is defined in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We intend to apply to list the Depositary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange, and we expect trading on the New York Stock Exchange to begin within 30 days of the initial issuance of the Depositary Shares.

What are the conditions to the Exchange Offer?

The Exchange Offer is conditioned upon:

the SEC having declared effective the registration statement of which this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement forms a part (which condition cannot be waived by us);

the receipt of valid Consents from holders of a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS approving the Proposed Amendments;

the continued listing of the Normal ITS that remain outstanding after the Exchange Offer on the New York Stock Exchange (which condition cannot be waived by us);

the accuracy of representations and warranties, and the compliance with certain covenants, contained in the dealer manager agreement, in each case, as of the Expiration Date; and

the satisfaction of the other conditions described below in the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Conditions of the Exchange Offer.

Our obligation to consummate the exchange of Depositary Shares for Normal ITS is not subject to any minimum tender condition. We may waive certain conditions of the Exchange Offer. If any of the conditions are not satisfied or waived by the Expiration Date, we will not accept any validly tendered Normal ITS for exchange. See The Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation Conditions of the Exchange Offer.

When does the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation expire?

The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation will expire at 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on June 7, 2010 (unless we extend it). We refer to such date and time (as it may be extended) as the Expiration Date.

How do I participate in the Exchange Offer?

You may tender your Normal ITS by transferring the Normal ITS through ATOP or following the other procedures described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation.

How do I participate in the Consent Solicitation?

You may deliver your Consent to the Proposed Amendments by validly tendering your Normal ITS into the Exchange Offer, in which case you will be deemed to have validly delivered your Consents to the

5

Table of Contents

Proposed Amendments by such tender. You may also deliver Consents to the Proposed Amendments without tendering your Normal ITS by following the procedures described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Providing Consent without Tendering.

May I withdraw Normal ITS that I have previously tendered and Consents that I have previously delivered?

You may withdraw any Normal ITS that you tender at any time prior to the Expiration Date (and, if not previously accepted for exchange, after the expiration of 40 business days commencing on May 10, 2010). You may withdraw any Normal ITS in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Offer by following the procedures described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Withdrawal of Tenders. A valid withdrawal of Normal ITS shall be deemed a revocation of any related Consent.

Consents delivered that are accompanied by a tender of Normal ITS may only be validly revoked by validly withdrawing the corresponding previously-tendered Normal ITS at or prior to the Expiration Date. If you have not tendered Normal ITS but have Consented to the Proposed Amendments, you may withdraw such Consent at any time at or prior to the Expiration Date by following the procedures described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Withdrawal of Consents with Respect to Normal ITS that were not Tendered.

Under what circumstances can the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation be extended, amended or terminated?

Subject to applicable law, we reserve the right to (1) extend the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation, (2) waive any and all conditions to or amend the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation in any respect (except the requirements that the registration statement, of which this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement forms a part, be declared effective by the SEC, and that the remaining Normal ITS will continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the settlement date) or (3) terminate or withdraw the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation if any condition to the Exchange Offer is not satisfied or waived at or prior to the Expiration Date.

In the event that we terminate or withdraw the Exchange Offer at or prior to the Expiration Date or the Exchange Offer is otherwise not completed, no consideration will be paid or become payable to holders who have tendered their Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer or delivered their Consents in the Consent Solicitation. In any such event, (1) Normal ITS previously tendered pursuant to the Exchange Offer will be promptly returned to the tendering holders and (2) the Proposed Amendments will not become operative. See The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Expiration Date; Extension; Termination; Amendment.

How will I be notified if the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation is extended, amended or terminated?

If the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation are extended, we will make a public announcement no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day after the previously scheduled Expiration Date. If we terminate or amend the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation, we will issue a timely public announcement regarding the termination or amendment. Upon termination of the Exchange Offer for any reason, any Normal ITS previously tendered in the Exchange Offer will be promptly returned to the tendering holders.

If we make a material change in the terms of the Exchange Offer or the information concerning the Exchange Offer, or waive a material condition of the Exchange Offer, we will promptly disseminate disclosure regarding the change or waiver, and extend the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, if required by law, so that the Exchange Offer remains open a minimum of five business days from the date we disseminate that disclosure. For more information regarding notification of extensions, amendments or the termination of the Exchange Offer, see the section below

entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Expiration Date; Extension; Termination; Amendment.

6

Table of Contents

Without limiting the manner in which we may choose to make such announcement, we will not, unless otherwise required by applicable law, have any obligation to publish, advertise or otherwise communicate any such announcement other than by making a release to a U.S. news agency or another means of announcement that we deem appropriate.

What do you intend to do with the Normal ITS that are acquired in the Exchange Offer?

Following the completion of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, and the effectiveness of the Proposed Amendments, (1) the Trust will retire the Normal ITS we acquire in the Exchange Offer, (2) the corresponding Underlying Notes will be transferred to us by the Trust and surrendered by us to the Indenture trustee for cancellation and (3) the corresponding stock purchase contracts will be terminated in connection with the delivery of Depositary Shares to the exchanging holders of Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer.

What risks should I consider in deciding whether or not to tender my Normal ITS or to Consent to the Proposed Amendments?

In deciding whether to participate in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, you should carefully consider the discussion of risks and uncertainties affecting our business, the Normal ITS, the Depositary Shares and our Preferred Stock described in the section below entitled Risk Factors, and the documents incorporated by reference, and consult with your advisors.

What are the federal income tax consequences of my participating in the Exchange Offer?

Please see the section below entitled Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences. The tax consequences to you of the Exchange Offer will depend on your individual circumstances. You should consult your own tax advisor for a full understanding of the tax consequences of participating in the Exchange Offer.

What must I do to participate if my Normal ITS are held of record by a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee?

If you wish to tender your Normal ITS or deliver separate Consents with respect thereto and they are held of record by a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee, you should contact such entity promptly and instruct it to tender Normal ITS or deliver Consents on your behalf. In some cases, the nominee may request submission of such instructions on a Beneficial Owner s Instruction Form. Please check with your nominee to determine the procedures for such form.

You are urged to instruct your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee at least five business days prior to the Expiration Date in order to allow adequate processing time for your instruction.

In order to validly tender your Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or deliver Consents in the Consent Solicitation, you or your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee must follow the procedures described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Providing Consent without Tendering, as the case may be.

WE ARE NOT PROVIDING FOR GUARANTEED DELIVERY PROCEDURES AND THEREFORE YOU MUST ALLOW SUFFICIENT TIME FOR THE NECESSARY TENDER PROCEDURES TO BE COMPLETED DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS OF DTC ON OR PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION DATE. IF YOU HOLD YOUR NORMAL ITS THROUGH A BROKER, DEALER, COMMERCIAL BANK,

TRUST COMPANY OR OTHER NOMINEE, YOU SHOULD CONSIDER THAT SUCH ENTITY MAY REQUIRE YOU TO TAKE ACTION WITH RESPECT TO THE EXCHANGE OFFER OR THE CONSENT SOLICITATION A NUMBER OF DAYS BEFORE THE EXPIRATION DATE IN ORDER FOR SUCH ENTITY TO TENDER NORMAL ITS OR DELIVER CONSENTS ON YOUR BEHALF AT OR PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION DATE. TENDERS AND CONSENTS NOT RECEIVED BY THE INFORMATION AND EXCHANGE AGENT AT OR PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION DATE WILL BE DISREGARDED AND OF NO EFFECT.

7

Table of Contents

Will I have to pay any fees or commissions if I tender my Normal ITS?

If your Normal ITS are held through a broker or other nominee who tenders the Normal ITS on your behalf (other than those tendered through one of the Dealer Managers), your broker may charge you a commission for doing so. You should consult with your broker or nominee to determine whether any charges will apply.

What are Stripped ITS and Capital ITS? Are they also subject to the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation?

A holder of Normal ITS is permitted to submit Normal ITS and certain qualifying U.S. treasury securities for Stripped ITS and Capital ITS, in which case the Trust will pledge qualifying U.S. treasury securities to secure its obligations under the stock purchase contracts corresponding to the Stripped ITS and pledged Underlying Notes will be released from the pledge securing the Trust's obligations under the stock purchase contracts. Each Stripped ITS represents a beneficial interest in 1/100th interest in a stock purchase contract and qualifying U.S. treasury securities. Each Capital ITS represents a beneficial interest in the Underlying Notes with a principal amount of \$1,000, which are not pledged to secure the Trust's obligations under the stock purchase contracts.

We are not offering to exchange any Stripped ITS or Capital ITS in the Exchange Offer and are not seeking the Consents of holders of Stripped ITS or Capital ITS in the Consent Solicitation. As of the date hereof there were no Stripped ITS or Capital ITS outstanding. If you hold Stripped ITS or Capital ITS and desire to participate in the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation, you must recreate Normal ITS from your Stripped ITS and Capital ITS, in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement, and then tender the recreated Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or deliver your Consent with respect to such Normal ITS.

With whom may I talk if I have questions about the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation?

If you have questions about the terms of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, please contact the lead Dealer Manager, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., or the co-Dealer Manager, U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc. You may call Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. or U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc. at their respective telephone numbers set forth on the back cover of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. If you have questions regarding the procedures for tendering your Normal ITS, please contact your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee, or D.F. King & Co., Inc., the Information and Exchange Agent. You can contact the Information and Exchange Agent at the address and telephone numbers set forth on the back cover of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement.

8

SUMMARY

The following summary highlights selected information contained in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. It may not contain all of the information that is important to you and is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information included or incorporated by reference in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. You should carefully consider the information contained in and incorporated by reference, including the information set forth below under the section entitled Risk Factors and the information set forth under Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.

U.S. Bancorp and USB Capital IX

We are a multi-state financial holding company headquartered in Minneapolis, Minnesota. We were incorporated in Delaware in 1929 and operate as a financial holding company and a bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956. We provide a full range of financial services through our subsidiaries, including lending and depository services, cash management, foreign exchange and trust and investment management services. Our subsidiaries also engage in credit card services, merchant and automated teller machine processing, mortgage banking, insurance, brokerage and leasing services. We are the parent company of U.S. Bank National Association and U.S. Bank National Association ND.

USB Capital IX, which we refer to as the Trust, is a Delaware statutory trust. We are the sole holder of all the common securities of the Trust. The sole assets and only source of funds to make payments on the Normal ITS are the Underlying Notes and the stock purchase contracts pursuant to which the Trust is obligated to purchase shares of Preferred Stock from us on the Stock Purchase Date. We expect the Stock Purchase Date to be April 15, 2011, but it could be deferred for quarterly periods until as late as April 15, 2012. To the extent that the Trust receives interest payments on the relevant Underlying Notes and contract payments pursuant to the stock purchase contracts, it is obligated to distribute those amounts to the holders of Normal ITS in the form of distributions. We have provided holders of Normal ITS a guarantee in support of the Trust s obligation to make distributions on the Normal ITS, but only to the extent the Trust otherwise has funds available for such distributions.

Following the completion of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, and the effectiveness of the Proposed Amendments, (1) the Trust will retire the Normal ITS we acquire in the Exchange Offer, (2) the corresponding Underlying Notes will be transferred to us by the Trust and surrendered by us to the Indenture trustee for cancellation and (3) the corresponding stock purchase contracts will be terminated in connection with the delivery of Depositary Shares to the exchanging holders of Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer. We currently expect to continue making distributions on the Normal ITS that are not acquired by us in the Exchange Offer in accordance with their terms.

Our principal executive offices and the principal executive offices of the Trust are located at 800 Nicollet Mall, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402. Our telephone number and the Trust stelephone number is (612) 303-0799.

Purpose of the Exchange Offer

We are conducting the Exchange Offer in order to improve our capital structure by replacing the Normal ITS, which are hybrid securities, with the Preferred Stock, which is a more traditional form of equity capital. In addition, by retiring the Underlying Notes that correspond to the Normal ITS that we acquire in the Exchange Offer, we believe we will facilitate any future remarketing of the Underlying Notes. We aim to further facilitate any future remarketing by adopting the Proposed Amendments in the Consent Solicitation.

The Normal ITS are currently treated as a restricted form of tier 1 capital under the capital adequacy guidelines for bank holding companies as promulgated by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, which we refer to as the Federal Reserve. The Preferred Stock issued in connection with the Exchange Offer will be treated as an unrestricted form of tier 1 capital under such capital adequacy guidelines. These guidelines place greater limitations on the amount of restricted tier 1 capital that we may have.

9

Table of Contents

The Underlying Notes are currently recorded as indebtedness on our balance sheet. Exchanging the Normal ITS for Preferred Stock in the Exchange Offer will result in an increase in our total shareholders—equity, as a result of the increase to our equity in the form of preferred stock and a corresponding reduction to our outstanding indebtedness due to the cancellation of the aggregate principal amount of Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS that are exchanged. However, the issuance of Depositary Shares in exchange for Normal ITS will result in additional distributions being paid by us of \$8.47 per Depositary Share from the settlement date until April 15, 2011. For additional information regarding the effects of the Exchange Offer on our capitalization, see the section below entitled Capitalization.

Pursuant to a remarketing agreement, the Trust must first attempt to remarket the Underlying Notes approximately one month prior to the Stock Purchase Date and must continue to attempt to remarket the Underlying Notes on a quarterly basis until the earlier of a successful remarketing and March 15, 2012, subject to certain limitations, conditions and other requirements. As a result of the Exchange Offer, we expect to reduce the number of Normal ITS that are outstanding and to retire the Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS that are accepted for exchange. This will reduce the aggregate principal amount of Underlying Notes that the Trust will be required to remarket, which we believe will facilitate a remarketing. A successful remarketing would benefit us because it would result in our receiving cash payments upon the settlement of the stock purchase contracts that correspond to the Normal ITS. If an attempted remarketing fails, our receipt of any cash proceeds from the sale of the remarketed Underlying Notes would be delayed, and if all remarketing attempts fail, the Underlying Notes would be returned to us in full in satisfaction of the Trust's obligation to pay the purchase price for the Preferred Stock and we would not receive any cash proceeds from a sale of the remarketed Underlying Notes.

Purpose of the Consent Solicitation

The purpose of the Consent Solicitation is to obtain Consents from the holders of Normal ITS to certain amendments, which we refer to as the Proposed Amendments, to the amended and restated trust agreement of the Trust, which we refer to as the Trust Agreement, the junior subordinated indenture governing the Underlying Notes, which we refer to as the Indenture, and the collateral agreement and stock purchase contract agreement relating to the Normal ITS. The proposed amendments to the Trust Agreement would allow us to retire the Normal ITS that we acquire in the Exchange Offer and would authorize the Trust to approve the amendments and modifications to the collateral agreement and stock purchase contract agreement. The proposed amendments to the Indenture would permit additional flexibility in the terms, conditions and requirements applicable to the remarketing, which we believe will further facilitate a remarketing. The proposed amendments to the collateral agreement would allow for the Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS acquired by us in the Exchange Offer to be released from their pledge and delivered to us for cancellation, and the proposed amendments to the stock purchase contract agreement would allow for the cancellation of the stock purchase contracts corresponding to the Normal ITS acquired by us in the Exchange Offer and for the future issuance of Preferred Stock upon settlement of the Exchange Offer and the stock purchase contracts as a result of the Exchange Offer. Pursuant to the terms of the Trust Agreement and the Indenture, the Proposed Amendments require the receipt of Consents in respect of a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS (which corresponds to a majority of the outstanding Normal ITS). For a more detailed description of the Consent Solicitation and the Proposed Amendments, see below under the sections entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation and The Proposed Amendments.

10

Summary Terms of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation

Exchange Offer

We are offering to exchange up to 1,250,000 Depositary Shares, each representing a 1/100th ownership interest in a share of our Preferred Stock, for any and all of the 1,250,000 outstanding Normal ITS, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement and in the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent.

We will accept validly tendered Normal ITS for exchange on the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer. We will promptly return any Normal ITS that are not accepted for exchange following the Expiration Date.

Exchange Offer Consideration

For each Normal ITS that we accept for exchange in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Offer, we will deliver one Depositary Share. We will also pay cash in an amount equal to any accrued and unpaid distributions on each Normal ITS accepted in the Exchange Offer up to, but excluding, the settlement date of the Exchange Offer, which, assuming the Exchange Offer expires on the current Expiration Date of June 7, 2010, will be \$9.46 for each Normal ITS.

Non-cumulative dividends, if declared, will accrue on the Preferred Stock underlying the Depositary Shares at a rate of 7.189% *per annum* until the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date. During that same period, holders of the Normal ITS will be entitled to receive distributions at a rate of 6.189% *per annum*. Otherwise, each share of Preferred Stock underlying the Depositary Shares will be identical in all respects to the Preferred Stock to be issued upon settlement of the stock purchase contracts forming part of the Normal ITS, including with respect to dividend payments following the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date. See Description of Preferred Stock.

In connection with the Exchange Offer, we are conducting the Consent Solicitation to obtain Consents to the Proposed Amendments from holders of Normal ITS, as more particularly described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation The Proposed Amendments. Holders who have validly tendered their Normal ITS will be deemed to have validly delivered their Consents to the Proposed Amendments by such tender. Holders of Normal ITS may also deliver Consents to the Proposed Amendments without tendering their Normal ITS.

Holders who validly tender their Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer will be required to, and will be deemed to have, validly delivered their Consents to the Proposed Amendments. If the Exchange Offer is consummated, each such holder will receive one Depositary Share for each Normal ITS accepted by us for exchange, and will not receive the Consent Fee or any other separate consideration for their Consent. If,

Consent Solicitation

Consent Fee

however, proration (as described under Proration of Tendered Normal ITS) occurs, such holders will receive the Consent Fee with respect to all validly tendered Normal ITS that were not accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer due to such proration, but they will still be

11

deemed to have delivered a Consent to the Proposed Amendments with respect to such Normal ITS.

Alternatively, a holder may validly deliver its Consents without tendering their related Normal ITS. If the requisite Consents are received and the Proposed Amendments become operative, we will pay each holder of Normal ITS that validly delivers and does not validly revoke Consents in respect of such Normal ITS without also tendering its Normal ITS into the Exchange Offer the Consent Fee of \$1.25 for each Normal ITS for which a Consent is properly received and not properly withdrawn at or prior to the Expiration Date. However, any such holder will not receive the Depositary Shares to be issued in the Exchange Offer and may only receive the Consent Fee. The Consent Fee is equal to 0.125% of the liquidation amount of each Normal ITS.

If the requisite Consents are received and the Proposed Amendments become operative, all holders of Normal ITS who validly deliver and do not validly revoke their Consents without tendering their Normal ITS into the Exchange Offer will be entitled to the Consent Fee, and the Consent Fee will be paid to such holders, regardless of whether the requisite Consents are delivered through tenders of Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or separately. The Consent Solicitation is not conditioned on a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS being tendered for exchange in the Exchange Offer.

Proration of Tendered Normal ITS

It is a condition to the Exchange Offer, which we cannot waive, that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange following the settlement date. We intend to accept all validly tendered Normal ITS other than the minimum number necessary to ensure that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the consummation of the Exchange Offer. If accepting all of the tendered Normal ITS would cause the Normal ITS to be de-listed, we will reduce the number of Normal ITS sought and accept a pro rata amount of the Normal ITS tendered in the Exchange Offer by all holders in the aggregate to ensure that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the consummation of the Exchange Offer. The New York Stock Exchange will consider de-listing the outstanding Normal ITS if (1) the aggregate market value of the Normal ITS is less than \$4 million (which would occur if greater than 99% of the outstanding Normal ITS were tendered into the Exchange Offer, based on the \$1,000 liquidation amount per Normal ITS) or (2) for any other reason based on the suitability for the continued listing of the Normal ITS in light of all pertinent facts as determined by the New York Stock Exchange.

Any Normal ITS tendered but not accepted because of proration will be returned to you promptly after the Expiration Date.

Proration will not revoke Consents to the Proposed Amendments. Therefore, if we do not accept all of your validly tendered Normal ITS due

to proration, you will still be deemed to have delivered your Consents with respect to all of your validly tendered Normal

12

Table of Contents

ITS, even those that are not accepted for exchange. If proration occurs, you will receive the Consent Fee with respect to all validly tendered Normal ITS that were not accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer due to such proration.

For a more detailed description of the proration procedures and the listing condition, see the sections below entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Proration and Conditions of the Exchange Offer.

Certain Consequences to Non-Tendering Holders

Normal ITS not exchanged in the Exchange Offer will remain outstanding after the consummation of the Exchange Offer. If a sufficiently large number of Normal ITS do not remain outstanding after the Exchange Offer, the trading market for the remaining outstanding Normal ITS may be less liquid and more sporadic than it has been in the past, and market prices may fluctuate significantly depending on the volume of trading in Normal ITS. See Risk Factors.

Following the completion of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, and the effectiveness of the Proposed Amendments, (1) the Trust will retire the Normal ITS we acquire in the Exchange Offer, (2) the corresponding Underlying Notes will be transferred to us by the Trust and surrendered by us to the Indenture trustee for cancellation and (3) the corresponding stock purchase contracts will be terminated in connection with the delivery of Depositary Shares to the exchanging holders of Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer. We currently expect to continue making distributions on the Normal ITS that are not acquired by us in the Exchange Offer in accordance with their terms.

Treatment of Stripped ITS and Capital ITS

No Stripped ITS or Capital ITS are outstanding as of the date hereof, and we are not offering to exchange any Stripped ITS or Capital ITS in the Exchange Offer and are not seeking the Consents of holders of Stripped ITS or Capital ITS in the Consent Solicitation. However, if you hold Stripped ITS or Capital ITS and desire to participate in the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation, you must recreate Normal ITS from your Stripped ITS and Capital ITS, in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement, and tender those recreated Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or deliver your Consent with respect to such Normal ITS.

Expiration Date and Withdrawal Rights; Revocation of Consents The Exchange Offer will expire at 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on June 7, 2010 (unless we extend it). The term Expiration Date means such date and time or, if the Exchange Offer is extended, the latest date and time to which the Exchange Offer is so extended.

You may withdraw any Normal ITS that you tender or revoke any Consent at any time at or prior to the Expiration Date (and, if not previously accepted for exchange, after the expiration of 40 business days commencing on May 10, 2010). You may withdraw

13

Table of Contents

any Normal ITS in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Offer by following the procedures described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Withdrawal of Tenders.

Consents delivered that are accompanied by a tender of Normal ITS may only be validly revoked by validly withdrawing the corresponding previously-tendered Normal ITS at or prior to the Expiration Date. If you have not tendered Normal ITS but have Consented to the Proposed Amendments, you may withdraw such Consent at any time at or prior to the Expiration Date by following the procedures described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Withdrawal of Consents with Respect to Normal ITS that were not Tendered.

Extensions; Waivers and Amendments; Termination

Subject to applicable law, we reserve the right to (1) extend the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation, (2) waive any and all conditions to or amend the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation in any respect (except the requirements that the registration statement, of which this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement forms a part, be declared effective by the SEC, and that the remaining Normal ITS will continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the settlement date) or (3) terminate or withdraw the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation if any condition to the Exchange Offer is not satisfied or waived by the Expiration Date.

In the event that we terminate or withdraw the Exchange Offer at or prior to the Expiration Date or the Exchange Offer is otherwise not completed, no consideration will be paid or become payable to holders who have tendered their Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer or delivered their Consents in the Consent Solicitation. In any such event, (1) Normal ITS previously tendered pursuant to the Exchange Offer will be promptly returned to the tendering holders and (2) the Proposed Amendments will not become operative.

Any extension, waiver, amendment or termination will be followed as promptly as practicable by a public announcement thereof, such announcement in the case of an extension to be issued no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day after the last previously scheduled Expiration Date. For more information regarding notification of extensions, waivers, amendments or the termination of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, see the section below entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Expiration Date; Extension; Termination; Amendment.

Conditions to the Exchange Offer

Our obligation to exchange Depositary Shares for Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer is subject to a number of conditions that must be satisfied or waived by us, including, among other things:

the SEC having declared effective the registration statement of which this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement forms a part (which condition cannot be waived by us);

14

the continued listing of the Normal ITS that remain outstanding after the Exchange Offer on the New York Stock Exchange (which condition cannot be waived by us);

the receipt of valid Consents from holders of at least a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS approving the Proposed Amendments;

the accuracy of representations and warranties, and the compliance with certain covenants, contained in the dealer manager agreement, in each case, as of the Expiration Date; and

the other conditions described below in the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Statement Conditions of the Exchange Offer.

Our obligation to consummate the exchange of Depositary Shares for Normal ITS is not subject to any minimum tender condition. We may waive certain conditions of the Exchange Offer. If any of the conditions are not satisfied or waived by the Expiration Date, we will not accept any validly tendered Normal ITS for exchange. See The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Conditions of the Exchange Offer.

The Depositary Shares will be issued, and Consent Fees will be paid, on the settlement date for the Exchange Offer, assuming that the conditions to such payments are satisfied. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer, the settlement date for the Exchange Offer will occur promptly following the Expiration Date. Assuming that the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation are not extended, we expect that the settlement date will be on or about the third business day following the Expiration Date.

Procedures for Tendering Normal ITS or Delivering Consents

You may tender your Normal ITS and deliver a Consent with respect thereto by transferring the Normal ITS through ATOP, following the procedures set forth below and described in more detail under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation.

Alternatively, you may complete and sign the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent in accordance with the instructions set forth therein, have the signature thereon guaranteed, if required, and send or deliver the manually signed Letter of Transmittal and Consent, together with any required documents, to the Information and Exchange Agent at its address set forth in the Letter of Transmittal and Consent.

You may also deliver Consents to the Proposed Amendments without tendering your Normal ITS by following the procedures described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Providing Consent without Tendering.

Settlement Date

Any beneficial owner whose Normal ITS are held of record by a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee and who wishes to tender Normal ITS or deliver Consents should

15

contact such nominee promptly and instruct such nominee to tender Normal ITS or deliver Consents on such owner s behalf. In some cases, the nominee may request submission of such instructions on a Beneficial Owner s Instruction Form. Please check with your nominee to determine the procedures for such form.

You are urged to instruct your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee at least five business days prior to the Expiration Date in order to allow adequate processing time for your instruction.

Should you have any questions as to the procedures for tendering your Normal ITS or delivering your Consents, please call your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee, or call our Information and Exchange Agent at its telephone number set forth on the back cover page of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement.

In order to validly tender your Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or deliver Consents in the Consent Solicitation, you or your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee must follow the procedures described below under the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation or The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Providing Consent without Tendering, as the case may be.

WE ARE NOT PROVIDING FOR GUARANTEED DELIVERY PROCEDURES AND THEREFORE YOU MUST ALLOW SUFFICIENT TIME FOR THE NECESSARY TENDER PROCEDURES TO BE COMPLETED DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS OF DTC AT OR PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION DATE. TENDERS AND CONSENTS NOT RECEIVED BY THE INFORMATION AND EXCHANGE AGENT ON OR PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION DATE WILL BE DISREGARDED AND OF NO EFFECT.

In accordance with the terms of the amended and restated trust agreement, only holders of Normal ITS who are United States persons may deliver a Consent to the Proposed Amendments. Therefore, a holder of Normal ITS who is not a United States person must irrevocably appoint a United States person with discretionary powers to act as their agent in order to participate in the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation. By participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, a holder of Normal ITS will be deemed to have represented that it is a United States person or, if it is not a United States person, that it has appointed a United States person to act as such holder s agent as set forth above. See

The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent SolicitationSolicitation

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

The treatment of the Exchange Offer for U.S. federal income tax purposes is not entirely clear. We intend to treat the exchange of

16

Table of Contents

Normal ITS for Depositary Shares pursuant to the Exchange Offer as (i) an exchange of Depositary Shares for a portion of the Underlying Notes and (ii) the surrender of the remaining Underlying Notes to us in termination of the stock purchase contract. Under this characterization, we believe the exchange of Depositary Shares for Underlying Notes should be treated as a recapitalization pursuant to which you would not recognize any gain or loss. We believe that you should not recognize any gain (but may recognize a capital loss) on the termination of the stock purchase contract if you previously allocated all of your purchase price to the Underlying Notes upon your purchase of Normal ITS (for example, an initial purchaser of Normal ITS), other than potential recognition of income in connection with market discount on a portion of the Underlying Notes.

There exist alternative characterizations of the Exchange Offer, however, under which you would not recognize any gain or loss by reason of exchanging your Normal ITS for Depositary Shares. Because the treatment of the Exchange Offer is unclear, we urge you to consult your tax advisor about the U.S. federal income tax consequences of an exchange of Depositary Shares for Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer. See Risk Factors There is uncertainty regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of participating in the Exchange Offer.

For more information, see the section below entitled Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences.

Comparison of the Rights of Depositary Shares and Normal ITS

Although each share of Preferred Stock underlying the Depositary Shares will generally be identical in all respects to the Preferred Stock to be issued upon settlement of the stock purchase contracts forming part of the Normal ITS, there are some differences between the rights of a holder of the Depositary Shares and a holder of the Normal ITS. For example, non-cumulative dividends, if declared, will accrue on the Preferred Stock underlying the Depositary Shares at a rate of 7.189% *per annum* until the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date whereas during that same period, holders of the Normal ITS will be entitled to receive distributions at a rate of 6.189% *per annum*.

See the section below entitled Comparison of Rights Between the Normal ITS and the Depositary Shares.

You will not be required to pay brokerage commissions to the Dealer Managers, the Exchange Agent, the Information Agent or us in connection with the Exchange Offer.

You will have no appraisal rights in connection with the Exchange Offer.

We have obtained the required approval of the Federal Reserve required for the repurchase of the Normal ITS. We are not required to obtain any other regulatory approvals.

Brokerage Commissions

No Appraisal Rights

Regulatory Approvals

Lead Dealer Manager

Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.

17

Table of Contents

Co-Dealer Manager

U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc.

Conflicts of Interest

Because U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc. is our affiliate, the Exchange Offer is being conducted in compliance with the NASD Rule 2720, as administered by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA). Pursuant to that rule, the appointment of a qualified independent underwriter is not necessary in connection with this offering, as the offering is of a class of securities rated Baa3 or better by Moody s rating service or BBB- or better by Standard & Poor s rating service or rated in a comparable category by another rating service acceptable to FINRA.

Information and Exchange Agent

D.F. King & Co., Inc.

Further Information

If you have questions about the terms of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, please contact Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., the lead Dealer Manager or U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc., the co-Dealer Manager. If you have questions regarding the procedures for tendering your Normal ITS, please contact the Information and Exchange Agent. The contact information for Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc. and the Information and Exchange Agent are set forth on the back cover page of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement.

As required by the Securities Act, we filed a registration statement relating to the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation with the SEC. This Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement is a part of that registration statement. See also the section above entitled Where You Can Find More Information.

18

Summary Terms of the Preferred Stock and Depositary Shares

Issuer

U.S. Bancorp

Securities Offered

Up to 1,250,000 Depositary Shares, each representing a 1/100th ownership interest in a share of our Preferred Stock. Each holder of a Depositary Share will be entitled, through the depositary, in proportion to the applicable fraction of a share of Preferred Stock represented by such Depositary Share, to all the rights and preferences of the Preferred Stock represented thereby (including dividend, voting, redemption and liquidation rights).

We may from time to time elect to issue additional Depositary Shares representing shares of Preferred Stock, and all the additional Depositary Shares would be deemed to form a single series with the Depositary Shares issued upon settlement of the Exchange Offer.

Dividends on the Preferred Stock, when, as and if declared by our board of directors or a duly authorized committee of the board, will accrue and be payable on the liquidation preference of \$100,000 per share (1) from the settlement date of the Exchange Offer to but not including the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date, semi-annually at a rate *per annum* equal to 7.189%, and (2) thereafter for each related quarterly dividend period at a rate *per annum* equal to the greater of (1) Three-Month LIBOR plus 1.02% or (2) 3.50%.

Three-Month LIBOR will be the offered rate *per annum* for three-month deposits in U.S. dollars as that rate appears on Reuters LIBOR01 page as of 11:00 a.m., London time, on the second London business day immediately preceding the first day of the Dividend Period, except as otherwise determined in the manner described below in the section entitled Description of Preferred Stock Dividends. Any such dividends will be distributed to holders of Depositary Shares in the manner described below in the section entitled Description of Depositary Shares Dividends and Other Distributions.

When dividends are not paid in full upon the shares of Preferred Stock and any parity stock, all dividends declared upon shares of Preferred Stock and any parity stock will be declared on a proportional basis so that the amount of dividends declared per share will bear to each other the same ratio that accrued dividends for the then-current dividend period per share on Preferred Stock, and accrued dividends, including any accumulations, on any parity stock, bear to each other.

Subject to the foregoing, and not otherwise, dividends (payable in cash, stock or otherwise), as may be determined by the board of directors or a duly authorized committee of the board, may be declared and paid on our common stock and any other securities ranking equally with or junior to the Preferred Stock from time to time out of any assets legally available

Dividends

for such payment, and the holders of the Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to participate in any such dividends.

19

Dividend Payment Dates

Prior to the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date, dividends on the Preferred Stock will be paid semi-annually in arrears on each April 15 and October 15 through the later of April 15, 2011 and (i) the Stock Purchase Date (if the Stock Purchase Date is also a Dividend Payment Date) or (ii) the Dividend Payment Date immediately preceding the Stock Purchase Date (if the Stock Purchase Date is not a Dividend Payment Date), and from and including the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date, dividends on the Preferred Stock will be paid quarterly in arrears on each January 15, April 15, July 15 and October 15. If any portion of a declared semi-annual dividend payment has accrued but has not been paid as of the Stock Purchase Date, such accrued amount shall be paid on the Stock Purchase Date. If any date on which dividends would otherwise be payable is not a business day, then the dividend payment date will be the next succeeding business day.

Redemption

We may not redeem the Preferred Stock prior to the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date. Thereafter, the Preferred Stock will be redeemable at our option, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at a redemption price equal to \$100,000 per share (equivalent to \$1,000 per Depositary Share), plus any declared and unpaid dividends, without accumulation of any undeclared dividends. Neither the holders of Preferred Stock nor holders of Depositary Shares will have the right to require the redemption or repurchase of the Preferred Stock.

Under the Federal Reserve s risk-based capital guidelines applicable to bank holding companies, any redemption of the Preferred Stock is subject to prior approval of the Federal Reserve. Moreover, we have agreed with the Federal Reserve that, unless it authorizes us to do otherwise in writing, we will redeem the Preferred Stock only if it is replaced with other tier 1 capital that is not a restricted core capital element for example, common stock or another series of non-cumulative perpetual preferred stock.

Limitation on Payments on Junior Stock

So long as any share of Preferred Stock remains outstanding, (1) no dividend shall be declared or paid or set aside for payment and no distribution shall be declared or made or set aside for payment on any junior stock, as defined in our certificate of incorporation (other than a dividend payable solely in junior stock), (2) no shares of junior stock shall be repurchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by us, directly or indirectly (other than as a result of a reclassification of junior stock for or into other junior stock, or the exchange or conversion of one share of junior stock for or into another share of junior stock, and other than through the use of the proceeds of a substantially contemporaneous sale of other shares of junior stock), nor shall any monies be paid to or made available for a sinking fund for the redemption of any such securities by us and (3) no shares of parity stock, as defined in our certificate of incorporation, shall be repurchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by us otherwise than pursuant to pro rata offers to purchase all, or a

Table of Contents

pro rata portion, of the Preferred Stock and such parity stock except by conversion into or exchange for junior stock, during a dividend period, unless, in each case, the full dividends for the then-current dividend period on all outstanding shares of Preferred Stock have been declared and paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof has been set aside.

Replacement Capital Covenant

On or about the time of the initial issuance of the Preferred Stock, we will enter into a Replacement Capital Covenant (as defined below in the section entitled Certain Terms of the Replacement Capital Covenant) relating to the Preferred Stock. The Replacement Capital Covenant only benefits holders of Covered Debt, as defined below in the section entitled Certain Terms of the Replacement Capital Covenant, and is not enforceable by holders of the Preferred Stock or of the Depositary Shares. However, the Replacement Capital Covenant could preclude us from redeeming or repurchasing shares of Preferred Stock at a time we might otherwise wish to redeem or repurchase shares of Preferred Stock.

In the Replacement Capital Covenant, we will covenant to redeem or repurchase shares of Preferred Stock prior to the termination date of the Replacement Capital Covenant only if and to the extent that (1) we have obtained the prior approval of the Federal Reserve, if such approval is then required by the Federal Reserve, and (2) the total redemption or repurchase price is equal to or less than the sum, as of the date of redemption or repurchase, of

133.33% of the aggregate net cash proceeds we or our subsidiaries have received during the 180 days prior to the date of such repurchase or the date we give notice of such redemption from the issuance and sale of common stock and rights to acquire common stock of U.S. Bancorp; *plus*

100% of the aggregate net cash proceeds we or our subsidiaries have received during the 180 days prior to the date of such repurchase or the date we give notice of such redemption from the issuance and sale of certain other specified securities that have equity-like characteristics that satisfy the requirements of the Replacement Capital Covenant, which means generally that such other securities have characteristics that are the same as, or more equity-like than, the applicable characteristics of the Preferred Stock at that time.

Liquidation Rights

Upon our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of shares of Preferred Stock are entitled to receive out of our assets available for distribution to stockholders, before any distribution of assets is made to holders of our common stock or of any other shares of our stock ranking junior as to such a distribution to the Preferred Stock, a liquidating distribution in the amount of the liquidation preference of \$100,000 per share (equivalent to \$1,000 per Depositary Share) plus any declared and unpaid dividends, without accumulation of any undeclared dividends. Distributions will be made only to the extent of our assets that

are available after satisfaction of all liabilities to

21

Table of Contents

creditors and subject to the rights of holders of any securities ranking senior to the Preferred Stock (*pro rata* as to the Preferred Stock and any other shares of our stock ranking equally as to such distribution).

Voting Rights

None, except with respect to:

authorizing or increasing the authorized amount of senior stock,

authorizing certain changes in the terms of the Preferred Stock, and

if dividends on any shares of the Preferred Stock or any other class or series of preferred stock that ranks on parity with the Preferred Stock as to payment of dividends with similar voting rights have not been declared or paid for the equivalent of six dividend payments, whether or not for consecutive dividend periods, the right to elect, together with holders of any other series of our preferred stock ranking equal with the Preferred Stock with similar voting rights, two additional directors to our board.

See below under the section entitled Description of Preferred Stock Voting. Holders of Depositary Shares must act through the depositary to exercise any voting rights, as described below under the section entitled Description of Depositary Shares Voting the Preferred Stock.

Ranking

Shares of the Preferred Stock will rank senior to our common stock, equally with our Series B Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock (Series B Preferred Stock) and Series D Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock (Series D Preferred Stock) and at least equally with each other series of our preferred stock we may issue (except for any senior series that may be issued with the requisite consent of the holders of the Preferred Stock and all other parity stock), with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up. See below under the section entitled Description of Preferred Stock Authorized Preferred Stock for a discussion of the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series D Preferred Stock. We will generally be able to pay dividends and distributions upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up only out of lawfully available assets for such payment (i.e., after taking account of all indebtedness and other non-equity claims).

Maturity

The Preferred Stock does not have a maturity date, and we are not required to redeem the Preferred Stock. Accordingly, the Preferred Stock will remain outstanding indefinitely, unless and until we decide to redeem it.

Preemptive and Conversion Rights

None.

Listing

We intend to apply for listing of the Depositary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange. If approved for listing, we expect trading of the Depositary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange to commence within a 30-day period after the initial delivery of the Depositary Shares.

Table of Contents

Tax Consequences Distributions constituting dividend income received by an individual U.S.

holder in respect of the Depositary Shares before January 1, 2011 will generally represent qualified dividend income, which will be subject to taxation at a maximum rate of 15% (or a lower rate for individuals in certain tax brackets), subject to certain exceptions for short-term and hedged positions. In addition, subject to similar exceptions for short-term and hedged positions, distributions on the Depositary Shares constituting dividend income paid to holders that are U.S. corporations will generally qualify for the 70% dividends-received deduction. For further discussion of the tax consequences relating to the Preferred Stock, see below under the section entitled Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences.

Expected Ratings We expect that the Depositary Shares will be rated A3, BBB+ and A by

Moody s Investor Service, Standard & Poor s and Fitch Ratings, respectively. None of these securities ratings is a recommendation to buy, sell or hold these securities. Each rating may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time, and should be evaluated independently of any

other rating.

Registrar U.S. Bank National Association

Depositary U.S. Bank National Association

Calculation Agent U.S. Bank National Association

23

RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks described below and all of the information contained and incorporated by reference in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement before you decide whether to participate in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation. In particular, you should carefully consider, inter alia, the matters discussed below and under Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 which is incorporated by reference herein.

Risks Related to the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation

The Normal ITS may be acquired by us other than through the Exchange Offer in the future, on more favorable terms and for more favorable consideration.

From time to time in the future, with regulatory approval and to the extent permitted by applicable law, we may acquire Normal ITS that remain outstanding following the consummation of the Exchange Offer, whether or not such acquisitions are consummated through tender offers, exchange offers or otherwise. Any such acquisitions may be effected upon such terms and at such prices as we may determine, which could be for cash or other consideration. There can be no assurance as to which, if any, of these alternatives (or combinations thereof) we might pursue. The consideration we may pay or the terms that we may offer in any such acquisition may be more favorable than we are offering in the Exchange Offer.

The consummation of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation may be delayed or may not occur.

We are not obligated to complete the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation under certain circumstances and unless and until certain conditions are satisfied, as described more fully below in the section entitled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Conditions of the Exchange Offer. Even if the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation are completed, they may not be completed on the schedule described in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. Accordingly, participating holders may have to wait longer than expected to receive their Depositary Shares.

If you do not follow the procedures, your tender and Consent may not be accepted.

We will only deliver Depositary Shares in the Exchange Offer for Normal ITS that are timely and properly tendered, or alternatively, we will only pay a Consent Fee in the Consent Solicitation for Consents that are timely and properly delivered. Therefore, you should allow sufficient time to ensure timely delivery of the Normal ITS or of your Consents and you should carefully follow the instructions on how to tender your Normal ITS or deliver your Consent. Neither we nor the Information and Exchange Agent are required to tell you of any defects or irregularities with respect to your tender of Normal ITS or your delivery of your Consent.

We have not obtained a third-party determination that the Exchange Offer is fair to holders of Normal ITS.

We are not making a recommendation as to whether you should exchange your Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer. We have not retained, and do not intend to retain, any unaffiliated representative to act on behalf of the holders of Normal ITS for purposes of negotiating the Exchange Offer or preparing a report concerning the fairness of the Exchange Offer. You must make your own independent decision regarding your participation in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation.

Holders of Normal ITS who participate in the Exchange Offer will lose their rights under the Trust Agreement and the other agreements governing the Normal ITS that they tender.

Upon acceptance of Normal ITS tendered in the Exchange Offer after the Expiration Date, holders of Normal ITS will lose the contractual and legal rights they currently have under the Trust Agreement and the other agreements governing the Normal ITS and will have different rights as holders of Depositary Shares. For example, the holders of Normal ITS who tender their Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer will lose their right

24

Table of Contents

to receive distributions on the Normal ITS and any other rights they have under the Trust Agreement or the Indenture governing the Underlying Notes.

We may not accept all of the Normal ITS tendered in the Exchange Offer and as a result you may not realize the full economic benefit of holding the Depositary Shares in lieu of the Normal ITS.

Depending on the amount of Normal ITS tendered in the Exchange Offer, we may not accept all of the Normal ITS tendered. We intend that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and, therefore, if accepting all of the Normal ITS would cause the Normal ITS to be de-listed, we will reduce the number of Normal ITS sought and accept a pro rata amount of the Normal ITS tendered in the Exchange Offer by all holders in the aggregate to ensure that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the consummation of the Exchange Offer. The New York Stock Exchange will consider de-listing the outstanding Normal ITS if (1) the aggregate market value of the Normal ITS is less than \$4 million (which would occur if greater than 99% of the outstanding Normal ITS were tendered into the Exchange Offer, based on the \$1,000 liquidation amount per Normal ITS) or (2) for any other reason based on the suitability for the continued listing of the Normal ITS in light of all pertinent facts as determined by the New York Stock Exchange. We intend to accept all validly tendered Normal ITS other than the minimum number necessary to ensure that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the consummation of the Exchange Offer. Any Normal ITS not accepted will be returned to tendering holders promptly after the Expiration Date. Therefore, holders of such tendered Normal ITS that are returned will not be able to realize the economic benefit of holding the Depositary Shares. Non-cumulative dividends, if declared, will accrue on the Preferred Stock underlying the Depositary Shares at a rate of 7.189% per annum until the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date. During that same period, holders of the Normal ITS will be entitled to receive distributions at a rate of 6.189% per annum.

Furthermore, holders who have validly tendered their Normal ITS will be deemed to have validly delivered their Consents to the Proposed Amendments by such tender. Therefore, if we do not accept all of your validly tendered Normal ITS due to proration, you will still be deemed to have delivered your Consents with respect to all of your validly tendered Normal ITS, even those that are not accepted for exchange.

Additionally, a holder will not know what portion of its Normal ITS will be accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer at the time such holder tenders its Normal ITS. Therefore, a holder that tenders all of its Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer may continue to own a portion of such holder s Normal ITS if not all of such Normal ITS are accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer.

Risks Related to Holding Normal ITS After the Expiration of the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation

If the Exchange Offer is successful, the trading market for Normal ITS may be limited and the market price for the Normal ITS may be significantly depressed and more volatile.

Depending on the amount of Normal ITS that are accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer, the trading market for the Normal ITS that remain outstanding after the Exchange Offer may be significantly limited. A reduced trading volume may decrease the price and increase the volatility of the trading price of the Normal ITS that remain outstanding following the Exchange Offer.

If you do not participate in the Exchange Offer, your pledged securities will remain encumbered.

Although you are the beneficial owner of the securities underlying your Normal ITS, if you do not participate in the Exchange Offer, those securities will remain pledged to secure payment of the purchase price under the stock purchase contracts. Thus, your rights to the pledged securities will remain subject to our security interest. Additionally,

notwithstanding the automatic termination of the stock purchase contracts in the event that we become the subject of a case under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, the delivery of the pledged securities to you may be delayed by the imposition of the automatic stay of Section 362 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.

25

Table of Contents

There is uncertainty regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of participating in the Exchange Offer.

The treatment of the Exchange Offer for U.S. federal income tax purposes is not clear. We intend to treat the exchange of Normal ITS for Depositary Shares pursuant to the Exchange Offer as an exchange of Depositary Shares for a portion of the Underlying Notes and the surrender of the remaining Underlying Notes to us in connection with the termination of the underlying stock purchase contract. Under this characterization, we believe the exchange of Depositary Shares for Underlying Notes should be treated as a recapitalization pursuant to which you would not recognize any gain or loss. We believe that you should not recognize any gain (but may recognize a capital loss) on the termination of the stock purchase contract if you previously allocated all of your purchase price to the Underlying Notes upon your purchase of Normal ITS, other than potential recognition of income in connection with market discount on a portion of the Underlying Notes. There exist, however, alternative characterizations of the Exchange Offer for federal income tax purposes under which you would calculate any gain or loss in a manner different from that described above. Further, there also exist characterizations of the Exchange Offer under which you would not recognize any gain or loss by reason of exchanging your Normal ITS for Depositary Shares. Because the treatment of the Exchange Offer federal income tax purposes is unclear and may vary depending upon a holder s individual tax situation, we urge you to consult your tax advisor about the particular U.S. federal income tax consequences to you of an exchange of Depositary Shares for Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer. For more information, see the section entitled Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences.

Risks Related to the Preferred Stock and the Depositary Shares After the Exchange Offer

You are making an investment decision with regard to the Depositary Shares as well as the Preferred Stock.

As described in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement, we will deliver fractional interests in shares of Preferred Stock, in the form of the Depositary Shares, in connection with the Exchange Offer. Accordingly, the depositary will rely on the payments it receives on the Preferred Stock to fund all payments on the Depositary Shares. You should carefully review the information in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement regarding both of these securities.

We may not declare dividends on the Preferred Stock and dividends on the Preferred Stock are non-cumulative. If we do not declare dividends on the Preferred Stock, holders of Depositary Shares will not be entitled to receive related distributions on their Depositary Shares.

Dividends on shares of Preferred Stock will not be mandatory. Holders of the Preferred Stock, including the depositary, will only be entitled to receive dividends for any given dividend period if, when and as declared by our board of directors out of legally available assets. Consequently, if our board of directors or a duly authorized committee of the board does not authorize and declare a dividend for any dividend period, the depositary would not be entitled to receive any such dividend and no related distribution will be made on the Depositary Shares, and such unpaid dividend will cease to accrue and be payable. Dividends on the Preferred Stock are non-cumulative. We will have no obligation to pay dividends accrued for a dividend period after the dividend payment date for such period, and holders of Depositary Shares will not be entitled to receive any distribution with respect to such dividends, if our board of directors or a duly authorized committee of the board has not declared such dividend before the related dividend payment date, whether or not dividends are declared for any subsequent dividend period with respect to the Preferred Stock or any other series of our preferred stock. If we do not declare and pay dividends on the Preferred Stock, you will not receive corresponding distributions on your Depositary Shares and the market price of your Depositary Shares may decline.

Table of Contents 57

26

Table of Contents

The Preferred Stock is equity and is subordinate to our existing and future indebtedness, including the Underlying Notes corresponding to any Normal ITS that remain outstanding following the Exchange Offer.

The shares of Preferred Stock are our equity interests and do not constitute indebtedness. As such, the shares of Preferred Stock, and the related Depositary Shares, will rank junior to all indebtedness and other non-equity claims on us, including the Underlying Notes corresponding to any Normal ITS that remain outstanding following the Exchange Offer, with respect to assets available to satisfy claims on us, including in our liquidation, dissolution or winding up. Our existing and future indebtedness may restrict payment of dividends on the Preferred Stock. As of March 31, 2010, our indebtedness and obligations, not including the \$1.25 billion aggregate principal amount of outstanding Underlying Notes, on a consolidated basis, totaled approximately \$16.0 billion. Additionally, unlike indebtedness, where principal and interest would customarily be payable on specified due dates, in the case of preferred stock such as the Preferred Stock (1) dividends are payable only if declared by our board of directors or a duly authorized committee of the board and (2) as a corporation, we are subject to restrictions on payments of dividends and redemption price out of lawfully available assets. Further, the Preferred Stock places no restrictions on our business or operations or on our ability to incur indebtedness or engage in any transactions, subject only to the limited voting rights referred to below under Description of Preferred Stock Voting and the limited restrictions on our ability to make payments on our junior stock if we are not current on paying dividends on the Preferred Stock.

Our ability to pay dividends on the Preferred Stock, and therefore your ability to receive distributions on your Depositary Shares, may be limited by federal regulatory considerations.

As a bank holding company, our ability to declare and pay dividends is dependent on certain federal regulatory considerations. There are various regulatory restrictions on the ability of our banking subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other payments to us. Federal banking laws regulate the amount of dividends that may be paid by our banking subsidiaries without prior regulatory approval. The amount of dividends available to us from our banking subsidiaries after meeting the regulatory capital requirements for well-capitalized banks was approximately \$3.3 billion at March 31, 2010. If regulatory considerations prohibit or limit our ability to pay dividends on the Preferred Stock, you will not receive related distributions on your Depositary Shares and the market price of the Depositary Shares may decline.

You should not expect us to redeem the Preferred Stock on the date it first becomes redeemable or on any particular date after it becomes redeemable.

The Preferred Stock is a perpetual equity security. The Preferred Stock has no maturity or mandatory redemption date and is not redeemable at the option of investors. By its terms, the Preferred Stock may be redeemed by us, at our option, either in whole or in part at any time on or after the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date. Any decision we may make at any time to propose a redemption of the Preferred Stock will depend upon, among other things, our evaluation of our capital position, the composition of our shareholders equity and general market conditions at that time. Our right to redeem the Preferred Stock is subject to two important limitations.

First, under the Federal Reserve s risk-based capital guidelines applicable to bank holding companies, any redemption of the Preferred Stock is subject to prior approval of the Federal Reserve. Moreover, we have agreed with the Federal Reserve that, unless it authorizes us to do otherwise in writing, we will redeem the Preferred Stock only if it is replaced with other tier 1 capital that is not a restricted core capital element, for example, common stock or another series of non-cumulative perpetual preferred stock.

There can be no assurance that the Federal Reserve will approve any redemption of the Preferred Stock that we may propose. There also can be no assurance that, if we propose to redeem the Preferred Stock without replacing the Preferred Stock with tier 1 capital that is not a restricted core capital element, the Federal Reserve will authorize such

redemption. We understand that the factors that the Federal Reserve will consider in evaluating a proposed redemption, or a request that we be permitted to redeem the Preferred Stock without replacing it with tier 1 capital that is not a restricted core capital element, include its evaluation of the overall level and quality of our capital components, considered in light of our risk exposures, earnings and

27

Table of Contents

growth strategy, and other supervisory considerations, but the Federal Reserve may change these factors at any time.

Second, at or prior to the initial issuance of the Preferred Stock, we will enter into the Replacement Capital Covenant, which will limit our right to redeem or repurchase the Preferred Stock. In the Replacement Capital Covenant, we covenant to redeem or repurchase shares of Preferred Stock prior to the termination date of the Replacement Capital Covenant only if and to the extent that (1) we have obtained the prior approval of the Federal Reserve, if such approval is then required by the Federal Reserve, and (2) the total redemption or repurchase price is equal to or less than the sum, as of the date of redemption or repurchase, of:

133.33% of the aggregate net cash proceeds we or our subsidiaries have received during the 180 days prior to the date of such repurchase or the date we give notice of such redemption from the issuance and sale of our common stock; *plus*

100% of the aggregate net cash proceeds we or our subsidiaries have received during the 180 days prior to the date of such repurchase or the date we give notice of such redemption from the issuance of certain other specified securities that have equity-like characteristics that satisfy the requirements of the Replacement Capital Covenant, which means generally that such other securities have characteristics that are the same as, or more equity-like than, the applicable characteristics of the Preferred Stock at that time.

Our ability to raise proceeds from qualifying securities during the 180 days prior to a notice of redemption or proposed repurchase will depend on, among other things, market conditions at such time as well as the acceptability to prospective investors of the terms of such qualifying securities. Accordingly, there could be circumstances where we would wish to redeem or repurchase some or all of the Preferred Stock and sufficient cash is available for that purpose, but we are restricted from doing so because we have not been able to obtain proceeds from qualifying securities sufficient for that purpose.

If we are deferring payments on our outstanding junior subordinated debt securities, including the Underlying Notes, or are in default under the indenture governing those securities, we will be prohibited from making distributions on or redeeming the Preferred Stock.

The terms of our outstanding junior subordinated debt securities, including the Underlying Notes, prohibit us from declaring or paying any dividends or distributions on the Preferred Stock, or redeeming, purchasing, acquiring or making a liquidation payment with respect to our Preferred Stock, if we are aware of any event that would be an event of default under the indenture governing those junior subordinated debt securities or at any time when we have deferred interest thereunder.

If we defer interest payments on the Underlying Notes or contract payments on the stock purchase contracts underlying the Normal ITS remaining outstanding after the Exchange Offer, we may not pay dividends on or redeem the Preferred Stock and you will not receive distributions or redemption payments on your Depositary Shares.

We may defer interest payments on the Underlying Notes for up to ten years, provided no deferral period will extend beyond the final repayment date or the earlier redemption of the Underlying Notes. We may also elect, or be required by the Federal Reserve, to defer contract payments on the stock purchase contracts. During a deferral period, we cannot pay any dividends or make any distributions relating to, or redeem, purchase, acquire or make a liquidation payment relating to, any of our capital stock, including the Preferred Stock, or make an interest, principal or premium payment on or repurchase of any of our debt securities that rank equal with or junior to the Underlying Notes, subject to certain exceptions.

A downgrade, suspension or withdrawal of any rating assigned by a rating agency to us or our securities, including the Depositary Shares and the Preferred Stock, could cause the liquidity or trading price of the Depositary Shares to decline significantly.

Real or anticipated changes in the credit ratings assigned to the Depositary Shares, the Preferred Stock or our credit ratings generally could affect the trading price of the Depositary Shares. Credit ratings are not a

28

Table of Contents

recommendation to buy, sell or hold any security, and may be revised or withdrawn at any time by the issuing organization in its sole discretion. In addition, credit rating agencies continually review their ratings for the companies that they follow, including us. The credit rating agencies also evaluate the financial services industry as a whole and may change their credit rating for us and our securities, including the Preferred Stock and Depositary Shares based on their overall view of our industry. Our corporate credit rating is currently on negative outlook by Moody's Investor Service. If Moody's downgrades our corporate rating, the ratings of our securities, including the Depositary Shares and Preferred Stock, may also be downgraded. We expect that the Depositary Shares will initially be rated by Moody's Investor Service, Standard & Poor's and Fitch Ratings. We cannot assure you that these ratings will remain for any given period of time or that these ratings will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency. A downgrade or withdrawal or the announcement of a possible downgrade or withdrawal in the ratings assigned to the Depositary Shares, the Preferred Stock or us or our other securities could cause the trading price of the Depositary Shares to decline significantly.

The Depositary Shares may not have an active trading market.

The Depositary Shares and the underlying Preferred Stock that are to be issued in the Exchange Offer are new issues with no established trading market. Although we plan to apply to have the Depositary Shares listed on the New York Stock Exchange, there is no guarantee that we will be able to list the Depositary Shares. Even if the Depositary Shares are listed, there may be little or no secondary market for the Depositary Shares. Any secondary market for the Depositary Shares that may develop, may not provide significant liquidity and transaction costs in any such secondary market could be high. As a result, the difference between bid and asked prices in any secondary market for the Depositary Shares could be substantial. Further, because the shares of Preferred Stock do not have a stated maturity date, investors seeking liquidity in the Depositary Shares will be limited to selling their Depositary Shares in the secondary market. We do not expect that there will be any separate public trading market for the shares of the Preferred Stock except as represented by the Depositary Shares.

Holders of Preferred Stock and the Depositary Shares will have limited voting rights.

Holders of the Preferred Stock, and therefore holders of the Depositary Shares, have no voting rights with respect to matters that generally require the approval of our voting shareholders. However, holders of the Preferred Stock will have the right to vote as a class on certain fundamental matters that may affect the preference or special rights of the Preferred Stock, as described below under Description of Preferred Stock Voting. In addition, if dividends on any shares of the Preferred Stock or any other class or series of preferred stock that ranks on parity with the Preferred Stock as to payment of dividends with similar voting rights have not been declared or paid for the equivalent of six dividend payments, whether or not for consecutive dividend periods, holders of the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock, together with holders of any other series of our preferred stock ranking equal with the Preferred Stock with similar voting rights, will be entitled to vote for the election of two additional directors to our board, subject to the terms and to the limited extent described under Description of Preferred Stock Voting. Holders of Depositary Shares must act through the depositary to exercise any voting rights in respect of the Preferred Stock.

Holders of Depositary Shares may be unable to use the dividends-received deduction.

Distributions paid to corporate U.S. holders of the Depositary Shares out of dividends on the Preferred Stock may be eligible for the dividends-received deduction if we have current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Although we presently have accumulated earnings and profits, we may not have sufficient current or accumulated earnings and profits during future fiscal years for the distributions on the Preferred Stock to qualify as dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If any distributions on the Preferred Stock with respect to any fiscal year are not eligible for the dividends-received deduction because of insufficient current or accumulated earnings and profits, the market value of the Depositary Shares may decline.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our summary historical consolidated financial data as of and for the periods indicated. The historical financial data as of and for the years ended December 31, 2005 through 2009 have been derived from our audited historical consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (our 2009 Form 10-K), which is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. You should read this information in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our 2009 Form 10-K. The historical financial data as of March 31, 2010 and for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 have been derived from our unaudited historical interim condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010 (our March 31, 2010 Form 10-Q), which is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. You should read this information in conjunction with our unaudited historical interim condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our March 31, 2010 Form 10-O. In our opinion, such unaudited interim financial data reflects all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring accruals, necessary for the fair presentation of the results for those periods. The results of operations for the interim periods, for seasonal and other factors, are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year or any future period. For more information, see the section above entitled Where You Can Find More Information.

	As of and for the Three Months Ended March 31,					As of and for the Year Ended December 31,								
		2010		2009		2009		2008		2007		2006		2005
	(Dollars and shares in millions, except per share data)													
Condensed Income Statement														
Net interest income														
(taxable-equivalent basis)(a)	\$	2,403	\$	2,095	\$	8,716	\$	7,866	\$	6,764	\$	6,790	\$	7,088
Noninterest income		1,952		1,986		8,403		7,789		7,281		6,938		6,257
Securities gains (losses), net		(34)		(198)		(451)		(978)		(15)		(14)		(106)
Total net revenue		4,321		3,883		16,668		14,677		14,060		13,742		13,239
Noninterest expense		2,136		1,871		8,281		7,348		6,907		6,229		5,919
Provision for credit losses		1,310		1,318		5,557		3,096		792		544		666
Income before taxes		875		694		2,830		4,233		6,361		6,969		6,654
Taxable-equivalent adjustment		51		48		198		134		75		49		33
Applicable income taxes		161		101		395		1,087		1,883		2,112		2,082
Net income		663		545		2,237		3,012		4,403		4,808		4,539
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		6		(16)		(32)		(66)		(79)		(57)		(50)
Net income attributable to U.S.	Ф	((0)	Φ	500	Φ	2 205	Ф	2.046	ф	4 22 4	Ф	4.751	Ф	4 400
Bancorp	\$	669	\$	529	\$	2,205	\$	2,946	\$	4,324	\$	4,751	\$	4,489

Edgar Filing: US BANCORP \DE\ - Form 424B3

Net income applicable to U.S. Bancorp common shareholders	\$	648	\$	419	\$	1,803	\$	2,819	\$	4,258	\$ 4,696	\$ 4,483
Per Common Share												
Earnings per share	\$.34	\$.24	\$.97	\$	1.62	\$	2.45	\$ 2.64	\$ 2.45
Diluted earnings per share	\$.34	\$.24	\$.97	\$	1.61	\$	2.42	\$ 2.61	\$ 2.42
Dividends declared per share	\$.050	\$.050	\$.200	\$	1.700	\$	1.625	\$ 1.390	\$ 1.230
Book value per share	\$	13.16	\$	10.96	\$	12.79	\$	10.47	\$	11.60	\$ 11.44	\$ 11.07
Market value per share	\$	25.88	\$	14.61	\$	22.51	\$	25.01	\$	31.74	\$ 36.19	\$ 29.89
Average common shares												
outstanding		1,910		1,754		1,851		1,742		1,735	1,778	1,831
Average diluted common												
shares outstanding		1,919		1,760		1,859		1,756		1,756	1,803	1,856
30												

As of and for the

Table of Contents

	As of and			А	as of and for the	C						
	Three Mon	ths Ended										
	Marc	h 31,		Year 1								
	2010	2009	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005					
		(Dolla	(Dollars and shares in millions, except per share data)									
inancial Ratios												
eturn on average assets	.96%	.81%	.829	6 1.21%	1.93%	2.23%	2.21%					
eturn on average common												
quity	10.5	9.0	8.2	13.9	21.3	23.5	22.5					
et interest margin												
axable-equivalent basis)(a)	3.90	3.59	3.67	3.66	3.47	3.65	3.97					
fficiency ratio(b)	49.0	45.8	48.4	46.9	49.2	45.4	44.4					
verage Balances												
oans	\$ 192,878	\$ 185,705	\$ 194,755	\$ 184,955	\$ 147,348	\$ 140,601	\$ 131,610					
oans held for sale	3,932	5,191	5,820	3,914	4,298	3,663	3,290					
vestment securities	46,211	42,321	42,809	42,850	41,313	39,961	42,103					
arning assets	248,828	235,314	237,287	215,046	194,683	186,231	178,425					
ssets	281,722	266,237	268,360	244,400	223,621	213,512	203,198					
oninterest-bearing deposits	38,000	36,020	37,856	28,739	27,364	28,755	29,229					
eposits	182,531	160,528	167,801	136,184	121,075	120,589	121,001					
hort-term borrowings	32,551	32,217	29,149	38,237	28,925	24,422	19,382					
ong-term debt	32,456	37,784	36,520	39,250	44,560	40,357	36,141					
otal U.S. Bancorp												
nareholders equity	26,414	26,819	26,307	22,570	20,997	20,710	19,953					
eriod End Balances												
oans	\$ 191,153	\$ 184,173	\$ 195,408	\$ 185,229	\$ 153,827	\$ 143,597	\$ 136,462					
llowance for credit losses	5,439	4,105	5,264	3,639	2,260	2,256	2,251					
vestment securities	46,913	39,266	44,768	39,521	43,116	40,117	39,768					
ssets	282,428	263,624	281,176	265,912	237,615	219,232	209,465					
eposits	184,039	162,566	183,242	159,350	131,445	124,882	124,709					
ong-term debt	32,399	38,825	32,580	38,359	43,440	37,602	37,069					
otal U.S. Bancorp												
nareholders equity	26,709	27,223	25,963	26,300	21,046	21,197	20,086					
apital ratios												
ier 1 capital	9.9%	10.9%	9.69	% 10.6%	8.3%	8.8%	8.2%					
otal risk-based capital	13.2	14.4	12.9	14.3	12.2	12.6	12.5					
everage	8.6	9.8	8.5	9.8	7.9	8.2	7.6					

⁽a) Presented on a fully taxable-equivalent basis utilizing a tax rate of 35%.

As of and for the

⁽b) Computed as noninterest expense divided by the sum of net interest income on a taxable-equivalent basis and noninterest income excluding net securities gains (losses).

Table of Contents

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any cash proceeds from the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation. We will pay any accrued and unpaid distributions on each Normal ITS accepted in the Exchange Offer up to, but excluding, the settlement date and any Consent Fees payable in the Consent Solicitation from cash on hand. We will pay all expenses related to the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, including any brokerage commissions or fees to the Dealer Managers and the Information and Exchange Agent. Except as otherwise provided in the section of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement titled The Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Acceptance of Normal ITS for Purchase; Delivery of Depositary Shares, we will pay the transfer taxes, if any, on the exchange of any Normal ITS.

32

CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth the carrying amount of our capitalization, as of March 31, 2010, on an actual basis and on an as adjusted basis to reflect completion of the Exchange Offer under both an assumed High Participation Scenario and an assumed Low Participation Scenario. The High Participation Scenario assumes the tender of 75% of the outstanding Normal ITS and the exchange of such securities for Depositary Shares. The Low Participation Scenario assumes the tender and exchange of 25% of the outstanding Normal ITS for Depositary Shares.

This table should be read in conjunction with the information set forth above under the sections entitled Selected Financial Data and our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the three-months ended March 31, 2010 and 2009, which are incorporated by reference into this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement.

	As of March 31, 2010 As Adjusted for As Adjusted for Exchange Offer Exchange (High) (Dollars in millions)						
Total deposits	\$ 184,039	\$	184,039	\$	184,039		
Long-term debt(1)	31,148		31,148		31,148		
Normal ITS	1,251		313		938		
Preferred stock							
Series A issued hereby(2)			798		266		
Series B	1,000		1,000		1,000		
Series D	500		500		500		
Series E							
Total	1,500		2,298		1,766		
Common shareholders equity(3)	25,209		25,322		25,247		
Total shareholders equity	26,709		27,620		27,013		

- (1) Long-term debt does not reflect the \$1,251 aggregate principal amount of Underlying Notes corresponding to the outstanding Normal ITS.
- (2) Amount of preferred stock is determined based upon its assumed fair market value at the time of the exchange. The amounts for preferred stock above assumes a fair market value equal to 85% of its liquidation amount.
- (3) As adjusted shareholders equity is increased due to a gain attributable to common shareholders as a result of the Exchange Offer reduced by taxes and expenses associated with the transaction.

33

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Our ratio of earnings to fixed charges and earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends for each of the periods are indicated as follows:

	Three Months Ended		Voor En			
	March 31, 2010	2009	2008	ded Decen 2007	2006	2005
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges:						
Excluding interest on deposits	2.93	2.36	2.40	2.61	3.10	4.27
Including interest on deposits	2.24	1.83	1.85	1.95	2.21	2.84
Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed						
Charges and Preferred Stock						
Dividends:						
Excluding interest on deposits	2.80	1.95	2.30	2.59	3.08	4.27
Including interest on deposits	2.18	1.63	1.80	1.93	2.20	2.84

For the purpose of computing the ratios of earnings to fixed charges and combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends, earnings consist of consolidated income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes, minority interest and fixed charges, and fixed charges consist of interest expense, amortization of debt issuance costs and the portion of rental expense deemed to represent interest. For the period ended December 31, 2005, there was no preferred stock outstanding, and, accordingly, the ratio of earnings to fixed charges and the ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends for such period are the same.

34

THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND THE CONSENT SOLICITATION

Purpose of the Exchange Offer

We are conducting the Exchange Offer in order to improve our capital structure by replacing the Normal ITS, which are hybrid securities, with the Preferred Stock, which is a more traditional form of equity capital. In addition, by retiring the Underlying Notes that correspond to the Normal ITS that we acquire in the Exchange Offer, we believe we will facilitate any future remarketing of the Underlying Notes. We aim to further facilitate any future remarketing by adopting the Proposed Amendments in the Consent Solicitation.

The Normal ITS are currently treated as a restricted form of tier 1 capital under the capital adequacy guidelines for bank holding companies as promulgated by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, which we refer to as the Federal Reserve. The Preferred Stock issued in connection with the Exchange Offer will be treated as an unrestricted form of tier 1 capital under such capital adequacy guidelines. These guidelines place greater limitations on the amount of restricted tier 1 capital that we may have.

The Underlying Notes are currently recorded as indebtedness on our balance sheet. Exchanging the Normal ITS for Preferred Stock in the Exchange Offer will result in an increase in our total shareholders—equity, as a result of the increase to our equity in the Form of preferred stock and a corresponding reduction to our outstanding indebtedness due to the cancellation of the aggregate principal amount of Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS that are exchanged. However, the issuance of Depositary Shares in exchange for Normal ITS will result in additional distributions being paid by us of \$8.47 per Depositary Share from the settlement date until April 15, 2011. For additional information regarding the effects of the Exchange Offer on our capitalization, see the section below entitled Capitalization.

Pursuant to a remarketing agreement, the Trust must first attempt to remarket the Underlying Notes approximately one month prior to the Stock Purchase Date and must continue to attempt to remarket the Underlying Notes on a quarterly basis until the earlier of a successful remarketing and March 31, 2012, subject to certain limitations, conditions and other requirements. As a result of the Exchange Offer, we expect to reduce the number of Normal ITS that are outstanding and to retire the Underlying Notes forming part of the Normal ITS that are accepted for exchange. This will reduce the aggregate principal amount of Underlying Notes that the Trust will be required to remarket, which we believe will facilitate a remarketing. A successful remarketing would benefit us because it would result in us receiving cash payments upon the settlement of the stock purchase contracts that correspond to the Normal ITS. If an attempted remarketing fails, our receipt of any cash proceeds from the sale of the remarketed Underlying Notes would be delayed, and if all remarketing attempts fail, the Underlying Notes would be returned to us in full satisfaction of the Trust s obligation to pay the purchase price for the Preferred Stock and we would not receive any cash proceeds from a sale of the remarketed Underlying Notes.

Purpose of the Consent Solicitation

The purpose of the Consent Solicitation is to obtain Consents from the holders of Normal ITS to certain amendments, which we refer to as the Proposed Amendments, to the Trust Agreement, the Indenture, and the collateral agreement and stock purchase contract agreement relating to the Normal ITS. The proposed amendments to the Trust Agreement would allow us to retire the Normal ITS that we acquire in the Exchange Offer and would authorize the Trust to approve the amendments and modifications to the collateral agreement and stock purchase contract agreement. The proposed amendments to the Indenture would permit additional flexibility in the terms, conditions and requirements applicable to the remarketing of the Underlying Notes, which we believe will further facilitate a remarketing. The

proposed amendments to the collateral agreement would allow for the Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS acquired by us in the Exchange Offer to be released from their pledge and delivered to us for cancellation, and the proposed amendments to the

35

Table of Contents

stock purchase contract agreement would allow for the termination of the stock purchase contracts corresponding to the Normal ITS acquired by us in the Exchange Offer and for the future issuance of Preferred Stock upon settlement of the Exchange Offer and the stock purchase contracts as a result of the Exchange Offer. Pursuant to the terms of the Trust Agreement and the Indenture, the Proposed Amendments require the receipt of Consents in respect of at least a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS (which corresponds to at least a majority of the outstanding Normal ITS).

Following the completion of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, and the effectiveness of the Proposed Amendments, (1) the Trust will retire the Normal ITS we acquire in the Exchange Offer, (2) the corresponding Underlying Notes will be transferred to us by the Trust and surrendered by us to the Indenture trustee for cancellation and (3) the corresponding stock purchase contracts will be terminated in connection with the delivery of Depositary Shares to the exchanging holders of Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer.

Terms of the Exchange Offer

General

We are offering to exchange up to 1,250,000 Depositary Shares, each representing a 1/100th ownership interest in a share of our newly issued Preferred Stock, for any and all of the 1,250,000 outstanding Normal ITS, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement and in the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent. You must tender whole numbers of Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer.

Offer Consideration

For each Normal ITS that we accept for exchange in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Offer, we will deliver one Depositary Share, representing a 1/100th ownership interest in a share of our Preferred Stock. We will also pay cash in an amount equal to any accrued and unpaid distributions on each Normal ITS accepted in the Exchange Offer up to, but excluding, the settlement date, which, assuming the Exchange Offer expires on the current Expiration Date of June 7, 2010, will be \$9.46 for each Normal ITS.

Non-cumulative dividends, if declared, will accrue on the Preferred Stock underlying the Depositary Shares at a rate of 7.189% *per annum* until the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date. During that same period, holders of the Normal ITS will be entitled to receive distributions at a rate of 6.189% *per annum*. Otherwise, each share of Preferred Stock underlying the Depositary Shares will be identical in all respects to the Preferred Stock to be issued upon settlement of the stock purchase contracts forming part of the Normal ITS, including with respect to dividend payments following the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date. See Description of Preferred Stock.

Treatment of Stripped ITS and Capital ITS

We are not soliciting exchanges of Stripped ITS or Capital ITS, none of which are outstanding as of the date hereof, and we are not soliciting Consents with respect thereto. If you hold Stripped ITS or Capital ITS and would like to participate in the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation, you must recreate Normal ITS from your Stripped ITS and Capital ITS in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement and then tender the recreated Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or deliver your Consent with respect to such Normal ITS.

The Consent Solicitation

In connection with the Exchange Offer, we are conducting the Consent Solicitation to obtain Consents to the Proposed Amendments from holders of Normal ITS, as more particularly described below under the section entitled The

Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation The Proposed Amendments.

36

Table of Contents

The Proposed Amendments

General

We have entered into the following agreements with respect to the Normal ITS: Amended and Restated Trust Agreement of the Trust, among us as Sponsor, Wilmington Trust Company as Property Trustee and Delaware Trustee, the Administrative Trustees and the several holders of the Trust Securities, dated as of March 17, 2006; the Stock Purchase Contract Agreement, dated as of March 17, 2006, between us and the Trust, acting through Wilmington Trust Company, as Property Trustee; Junior Subordinated Indenture, dated April 28, 2005, between us and Wilmington Trust Company, as Trustee; First Supplemental Indenture, dated August 3, 2005; Second Supplemental Indenture, dated December 29, 2005; Third Supplemental Indenture, dated March 17, 2006; Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated April 12, 2006; Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated December 10, 2009; Guarantee Agreement, dated as of March 17, 2006 between us and Wilmington Trust Company, as Trustee, for the benefit of the Holders from time to time of the Trust Preferred Securities of the Trust; and the Collateral Agreement, dated as of March 17, 2006, among us, U.S. Bank National Association, and the Trust.

The following section sets forth a brief description of the Proposed Amendments for which Consents are being sought pursuant to the Consent Solicitation. If the Consent Solicitation is successful, the Proposed Amendments will be embodied in amendments to the Trust Agreement, the Indenture (by means of an Eighth Supplemental Indenture) and the collateral agreement and stock purchase contract agreement relating to the Normal ITS (by means of the amendment and restatement of those agreements). Forms of each of the amendments to the Trust Agreement, the Eighth Supplemental Indenture, the amended and restated collateral agreement and the amended and restated stock purchase contract agreement are filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement forms a part and are described in more detail below. The descriptions contained in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement are meant to be only a summary of the provisions of the Proposed Amendments and do not restate the entire terms of the Proposed Amendments. Pursuant to the terms of the Trust Agreement and the Indenture, the Proposed Amendments require the receipt of Consents in respect of at least a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS (which corresponds to at least a majority of the outstanding Normal ITS).

Proposed Amendments to the Trust Agreement

The Proposed Amendments to the Trust Agreement will permit the Trust to retire the Normal ITS that we accept for exchange in the Exchange Offer, which we believe will facilitate the remarketing of the Underlying Notes. The Proposed Amendments to the Trust Agreement will also authorize the trustees of the Trust to amend or modify related documents, including the collateral agreement and the stock purchase contract agreement to give effect to the Proposed Amendments to those agreements described below, and to make conforming revisions to the Trust Agreement to reflect the changes in the remarketing period for the Underlying Notes that are being proposed as part of the Proposed Amendments to the Indenture.

Proposed Amendments to the Indenture

The Proposed Amendments to the Indenture are intended to further facilitate a future remarketing of the Underlying Notes. The Proposed Amendments would (1) extend the period during which the Underlying Notes could be remarketed during any remarketing attempt from one day to 30 days, and (2) allow us to remarket the Underlying Notes in two or more series having different stated maturities, interest rates, denominations and interest payment dates. The Proposed Amendments would also allow us to retire any Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS that we acquire in the Exchange Offer.

Proposed Amendments to the Collateral Agreement

The Proposed Amendments to the collateral agreement will provide, in connection with the settlement of the Exchange Offer, for the partial release of the pledge of Underlying Notes securing the Trust s obligations

37

Table of Contents

to pay for Preferred Stock upon the settlement of the stock purchase contracts underlying the Normal ITS. The pledge would be released with respect to the Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS acquired by us in the Exchange Offer, and such Underlying Notes would be released to the Trust for delivery to us. This amendment would allow us to surrender the Underlying Notes corresponding to the Normal ITS we acquire in the Exchange Offer to the Indenture trustee for cancellation.

Proposed Amendments to the Stock Purchase Contract Agreement

The Proposed Amendments to the stock purchase contract agreement will provide, in connection with the settlement of the Exchange Offer, for the cancellation of the stock purchase contracts corresponding to the Normal ITS acquired by us in the Exchange Offer and that all rights of the Trust with respect to such stock purchase contracts will cease upon such cancellation, including but not limited to any right to receive any contract payments. The Proposed Amendments to the stock purchase contract agreement would also provide for the possible issuance of fractional shares of Preferred Stock upon settlement of the Exchange Offer and the stock purchase contracts underlying the Normal ITS that remain outstanding after the completion of the Exchange Offer. Conforming changes to the stock purchase contract agreement would also be made to reflect the changes in the remarketing period for the Underlying Notes that are being proposed as part of the Proposed Amendments to the Indenture.

How to Consent

You may deliver your Consent to the Proposed Amendments by validly tendering your Normal ITS into the Exchange Offer, in which case you will be deemed to have validly delivered your Consents to the Proposed Amendments by such tender. You may also deliver Consents to the Proposed Amendments without tendering your Normal ITS by following the procedures described below under

Procedures for Providing Consent without Tendering.

Payment of the Consent Fee

If the requisite Consents are received and the Proposed Amendments become operative, we will pay each holder of Normal ITS that validly delivers and does not validly revoke Consents in respect of such Normal ITS without also tendering its Normal ITS into the Exchange Offer the Consent Fee of \$1.25 for each Normal ITS for which a Consent is properly received and not properly withdrawn at or prior to the Expiration Date. The Consent Fee is equal to 0.125% of the liquidation amount of each Normal ITS. However, any such holder will not receive the Depositary Shares to be issued in the Exchange Offer and may only receive the Consent Fee.

If the requisite Consents are received and the Proposed Amendments become operative, all holders of Normal ITS who validly deliver and do not validly revoke their Consents without tendering their Normal ITS into the Exchange Offer will be entitled to the Consent Fee, and the Consent Fee will be paid to such holders, regardless of whether the requisite Consents are delivered through tenders of Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or separately. The Consent Solicitation is not conditioned on a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS being tendered for exchange in the Exchange Offer.

Holders of Normal ITS who do tender their Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer will be required to, and will be deemed to have, validly delivered their Consents to the Proposed Amendments with respect to the liquidation amount of Normal ITS so tendered. If the Exchange Offer is consummated, such holders will receive one Depositary Share for each Normal ITS accepted by us for exchange, and they will not receive the Consent Fee or any other separate consideration for their Consent. If, however, proration occurs, you will receive the Consent Fee with respect to all validly tendered Normal ITS that were not accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer due to such proration, but you will still be deemed to have delivered a Consent to the Proposed Amendments with respect to all such Normal ITS.

Effectiveness of the Proposed Amendments

If sufficient Consents are received as provided above and not properly revoked at or prior to the Expiration Date, the Proposed Amendments will become operative with respect to the Normal ITS, the

38

Table of Contents

Trust Agreement and the Underlying Notes upon receipt by the Trust and the Indenture trustee of such Consents and the execution and delivery of the amendments to the Trust Agreement, Indenture and related documents.

Conditions of the Exchange Offer

We will not be required to accept for exchange or to issue Depositary Shares in respect of any Normal ITS tendered pursuant to the Exchange Offer, and we may terminate, extend or amend the Exchange Offer and, subject to Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act, may postpone the acceptance for exchange of, and issuance of Preferred Stock in respect of, any Normal ITS so tendered in the Exchange Offer, unless each of the following conditions are satisfied or waived at or prior to the Expiration Date:

there shall not have been any change or development that in our reasonable judgment materially reduces the anticipated benefits to us of the Exchange Offer or that has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on us, our businesses, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects;

there shall not have been instituted or threatened in writing any action, proceeding or investigation by or before any governmental authority, including any court, governmental, regulatory or administrative branch or agency, tribunal or instrumentality (including the Federal Reserve), that relates in any manner to the Exchange Offer and that in our reasonable judgment makes it advisable to us to terminate the Exchange Offer;

there shall not have occurred:

any general suspension of or limitation on prices for trading in securities in the United States securities or financial markets:

a declaration of a banking moratorium or any suspension of payments with respect to banks in the United States:

a commencement or significant worsening of a war or armed hostilities or other national or international calamity, including but not limited to, catastrophic terrorist attacks against the United States or its citizens;

the registration statement of which this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement forms a part shall have been declared effective by the SEC, no stop order suspending its effectiveness shall have been issued and no proceedings for that purpose shall have been instituted or shall be pending or, to our knowledge, shall be contemplated or threatened by the SEC (which condition cannot be waived by us); and

the continued listing of Normal ITS that will remain outstanding after the Exchange Offer on the New York Stock Exchange has not been revoked (which condition cannot be waived by us).

Moreover, acceptance of the Normal ITS for exchange is subject to the condition that the Proposed Amendments shall have become operative. The Proposed Amendments will only become operative if we receive valid Consents from holders of at least a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of the outstanding Normal ITS (which corresponds to at least a majority of the outstanding Normal ITS).

The New York Stock Exchange will consider de-listing the outstanding Normal ITS if (1) the aggregate market value of the Normal ITS is less than \$4 million (which would occur if greater than 99% of the outstanding Normal ITS were tendered into the Exchange Offer, based on the \$1,000 liquidation amount per Normal ITS) or (2) for any other reason based on the suitability for the continued listing of the Normal ITS in light of all pertinent facts as determined by the New York Stock Exchange. In the event that a significant number of holders tender their Normal ITS or a significant

number of the Normal ITS are tendered in the Exchange Offer such that we believe there is any likelihood that the Normal ITS could be de-listed from the New York Stock Exchange, we may accept less than the total number of Normal ITS tendered, and prorate the number of Normal ITS validly tendered by each holder that we accept for exchange, in order to ensure that

39

Table of Contents

the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Therefore, while we are making this Exchange Offer for up to 1,250,000 Normal ITS, we may not accept all of the tendered Normal ITS if doing so may result in the de-listing of the Normal ITS. If the Normal ITS are likely to be de-listed, we will prorate the Exchange Offer to ensure that the Normal ITS remain listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

In the event that we terminate or withdraw the Exchange Offer at or prior to the Expiration Date or the Exchange Offer is otherwise not completed, no consideration will be paid or become payable to holders who have tendered their Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer or delivered their Consents in the Consent Solicitation. In any such event, (1) Normal ITS previously tendered pursuant to the Exchange Offer will be promptly returned to the tendering holders and (2) the Proposed Amendments will not become operative.

We expressly reserve the right to amend or terminate the Exchange Offer and to reject for exchange any Normal ITS not previously accepted for exchange, if any of the conditions to the Exchange Offer specified above are not satisfied at or prior to the Expiration Date. In addition, we expressly reserve the right, at any time or at various times at or prior to the Expiration Date, to waive any conditions to the Exchange Offer, in whole or in part, except the requirements that the registration statement, of which this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement forms a part, be declared effective by the SEC, and that the remaining Normal ITS will continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the settlement date, which conditions we will not waive. We will give oral or written notice (with any oral notice to be promptly confirmed in writing) of any amendment, non-acceptance, termination or waiver to the Information and Exchange Agent as promptly as practicable, followed by a timely press release.

These conditions are for our sole benefit, and we may assert them regardless of the circumstances that may give rise to them, or (except as otherwise noted) waive them in whole or in part, in our sole discretion. If we fail at any time to exercise any of the foregoing rights, that failure will not constitute a waiver of such right. Each such right will be deemed an ongoing right that we may assert at any time or at various times at or prior to the Expiration Date. All conditions, must be satisfied or waived at or prior to the Expiration Date. If any of the conditions are not satisfied or waived at or prior to the Expiration Date, we will not accept any validly tendered Normal ITS for exchange in the Exchange Offer.

Proration

It is a condition to the Exchange Offer that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Accordingly, if there is a likelihood that accepting all of the tendered Normal ITS would cause the Normal ITS to be de-listed, we will reduce the number of Normal ITS sought and accept a *pro rata* amount of the Normal ITS tendered in the Exchange Offer to ensure that the Normal ITS continue to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange after the consummation of the Exchange Offer. Any Normal ITS tendered but not accepted because of proration will be returned to you promptly following the Expiration Date.

If, for any reason, proration of tendered Normal ITS is required, we will determine the final proration factor promptly after the Expiration Date of the Exchange Offer. Proration for each holder validly tendering Normal ITS will be based on the ratio of the number of Normal ITS validly tendered by the holder to the total number of Normal ITS validly tendered by all holders. This ratio will be applied to holders tendering Normal ITS to determine the number of Normal ITS, rounded up or down as nearly as practicable to the nearest whole Normal ITS, that will be exchanged by each holder pursuant to the Exchange Offer. We will announce this proration percentage, if it is necessary, promptly after the Expiration Date of the Exchange Offer.

Proration will not revoke Consents to the Proposed Amendments. Therefore, if we do not accept all of your validly tendered Normal ITS due to proration, you will still be deemed to have delivered your Consents with respect to all of your validly tendered Normal ITS, even those that are not accepted for exchange. If proration occurs, you will receive

the Consent Fee with respect to all validly tendered Normal ITS that were not accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer due to such proration.

40

Table of Contents

Expiration Date; Extension; Termination; Amendment

The Exchange Offer will expire at 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on June 7, 2010, unless extended or earlier terminated or withdrawn by us. You may withdraw any Normal ITS that you tender at any time at or prior to the Expiration Date (and, if not previously accepted for exchange, after the expiration of 40 business days from May 10, 2010).

We reserve the right to extend the period of time that the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation is open, and delay acceptance for exchange of the Normal ITS validly tendered in the Exchange Offer, by giving oral or written notice to the Information and Exchange Agent and by a public announcement no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day after the previously scheduled Expiration Date. During any such extension, (i) all Normal ITS you have previously tendered in the Exchange Offer will remain subject to the Exchange Offer and the related Consents will continue to be deemed to have been delivered, subject to your right to withdraw in accordance with the Exchange Offer, and (ii) any validly delivered Consent that is not accompanied by a tender of the related Normal ITS will continue to be validly delivered in the Consent Solicitation, subject to your right to withdraw such Consent.

We reserve the right, regardless of whether or not the conditions to the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation have been satisfied but subject to applicable law, to terminate or withdraw the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation if any condition to the Exchange Offer is not satisfied or waived by the Expiration Date or to amend it in any respect. If any of the conditions are not satisfied or waived by the Expiration Date, we will not accept any validly tendered Normal ITS for exchange in the Exchange Offer. If we terminate or amend the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation, we will notify the Information and Exchange Agent by oral or written notice and will issue a timely public announcement regarding the termination or amendment.

In the event that we terminate or withdraw the Exchange Offer at or prior to the Expiration Date or the Exchange Offer is otherwise not completed, no consideration will be paid or become payable to holders who have tendered their Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer or delivered their Consents in the Consent Solicitation. In any such event, (1) Normal ITS previously tendered pursuant to the Exchange Offer will be promptly returned to the tendering holders and (2) the Proposed Amendments will not become operative.

If we make a material change in the terms of the Exchange Offer or the information concerning the Exchange Offer, or waive a material condition of the Exchange Offer, we will promptly disseminate disclosure regarding the change or waiver, and extend the Exchange Offer, if required by law, so that the Exchange Offer remains open a minimum of five business days from the date we disseminate that disclosure.

Without limiting the manner in which we may choose to make such announcement, we will not, unless otherwise required by applicable law, have any obligation to publish, advertise or otherwise communicate any such announcement other than by making a release to a U.S. news agency or another means of announcement that we deem appropriate.

Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation

Only a holder of Normal ITS may participate in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation. If you hold Stripped ITS or Capital ITS and would like to participate in the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation, then you must recreate Normal ITS from your Stripped ITS and Capital ITS in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement, and then tender the recreated Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or deliver your Consent with respect to such Normal ITS.

All of the Normal ITS were issued in book-entry form, and all of the Normal ITS are currently represented by one or more global certificates held for the account of DTC. If you desire to tender Normal ITS and deliver a related Consent with respect thereto, you may transfer such Normal ITS and deliver such Consent through DTC s ATOP, following the procedures set forth below. Alternatively, you may complete and sign the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent in accordance with the instructions set forth therein, have the signature thereon guaranteed, if required, and send or deliver the manually signed Letter of Transmittal and Consent, together with any required documents, to the Information and Exchange Agent at its address set forth in the Letter of Transmittal and Consent.

41

Table of Contents

In accordance with the terms of the amended and restated trust agreement, voting and consensual rights of holders of Normal ITS may be exercised only by a United States person that is a beneficial owner of Normal ITS, or by a United States person acting as irrevocable agent with discretionary powers for the beneficial owner of Normal ITS that is not a United States person. A holder of Normal ITS that is not a United States person must irrevocably appoint a United States person with discretionary powers to act as their agent in order to participate in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation. In order to participate in the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation, holders that are not United States persons must do so through a United States person designated to act as their agent. By participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, a holder of Normal ITS will be deemed to have represented that it is a United States person or, if it is not a United States person, that it has appointed a United States person to act as such holder s agent as set forth above.

How to Tender If You Are a Beneficial Owner But Not a DTC Participant

Any beneficial owner whose Normal ITS are held of record by a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee and who wishes to tender Normal ITS or deliver related Consents with respect thereto should contact such nominee promptly and instruct such nominee to tender Normal ITS and deliver Consents on such owner s behalf. In some cases, the nominee may request submission of such instructions on a Beneficial Owner s Instruction Form. Please check with your nominee to determine the procedures for such form. If you hold your Normal ITS through a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee, you should consider that such entity may require you to take action with respect to the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation a number of days before the Expiration Date in order for such entity to tender Normal ITS and deliver Consents on your behalf at or prior to the Expiration Date.

How to Tender If You Are a DTC Participant

To participate in the offer, a DTC participant must:

comply with the ATOP procedures of DTC described below; or

(1) complete and sign and date the Letter of Transmittal and Consent, or a facsimile of the Letter of Transmittal and Consent; (2) have the signature on the Letter of Transmittal and Consent guaranteed if the Letter of Transmittal and Consent so requires; and (3) mail or deliver the Letter of Transmittal and Consent or facsimile thereof to the Information and Exchange Agent prior to the Expiration Date.

In addition, either:

the Information and Exchange Agent must receive, prior to the Expiration Date, a properly transmitted Agent s Message; or

the Information and Exchange Agent must receive, prior to the Expiration Date, a timely confirmation of book-entry transfer of the Normal ITS into the Information and Exchange Agent s account at DTC according to the procedure for book-entry transfer described below, the Letter of Transmittal and Consent and any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal and Consent.

Tenders of Normal ITS pursuant to the procedures described above, and acceptance thereof by us, will constitute a binding agreement between the tendering holder and us upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, which agreement will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.

No documents should be sent to us, the Dealer Managers or the Information and Exchange Agent. Delivery of a Letter of Transmittal and Consent or an Agent s Message transmitted through ATOP is at the election and risk of the person delivering or transmitting, and delivery will be deemed made only when actually received by the Information and Exchange Agent.

By tendering Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer, you will be deemed to have agreed that the delivery and surrender of the Normal ITS is not effective, and the risk of loss of the Normal ITS does not pass

42

Table of Contents

to the Information and Exchange Agent, until receipt by the Information and Exchange Agent of the items listed above together with all accompanying evidences of authority and any other required documents in form satisfactory to us. In all cases, you should allow sufficient time to assure delivery to the Information and Exchange Agent at or prior to the Expiration Date.

By tendering Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer, you will be deemed to have made the representations and warranties set forth in the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent, including that you have full power and authority to tender, sell, assign and transfer the Normal ITS tendered thereby and/or to deliver a Consent with respect thereto and that when such Normal ITS that are tendered into the Exchange Offer are accepted for purchase by us, we will acquire good title thereto, free and clear of all liens, restrictions, charges and encumbrances and not subject to any adverse claim or right. You will also be deemed to have agreed to, upon request, execute and deliver any additional documents deemed by the Information and Exchange Agent or by us to be necessary or desirable to complete the sale, assignment and transfer of the Normal ITS tendered thereby.

We have not provided guaranteed delivery provisions in connection with the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation. You must tender your Normal ITS and Consents in accordance with the procedures set forth herein.

Tendering Through DTC s ATOP

The Information and Exchange Agent will establish an account at DTC with respect to the Normal ITS for purposes of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, and any financial institution that is a DTC participant may make book-entry delivery of eligible Normal ITS by causing DTC to transfer such Normal ITS into the Information and Exchange Agent s account in accordance with DTC s procedures for such transfer.

The Information and Exchange Agent and DTC have confirmed that Normal ITS held in book-entry form through DTC that are to be tendered in the Exchange Offer are eligible for ATOP. To effectively tender Normal ITS and deliver related Consents eligible for ATOP that are held through DTC, DTC participants may, in lieu of physically completing and signing the Letter of Transmittal and Consent and delivering it to the Information and Exchange Agent, electronically transmit their acceptance through ATOP, and DTC will then verify the acceptance, execute a book-entry delivery to the Exchange Agent s account at DTC and send an Agent s Message to the Information and Exchange Agent for its acceptance. The confirmation of a book-entry transfer into the Information and Exchange Agent s account at DTC as described above is referred to herein as a Book-Entry Confirmation. Delivery of documents to DTC does not constitute delivery to the Information and Exchange Agent.

The term Agent's Message means a message transmitted by DTC to, and received by, the Information and Exchange Agent and forming a part of the Book-Entry Confirmation, which states that DTC has received an express acknowledgment from the DTC participant described in such Agent's Message, stating that such participant has received and agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation as set forth in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement and the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent and that we may enforce such agreement against such participant.

If you desire to tender your Normal ITS and deliver related Consents on the Expiration Date through ATOP, you should note that you must allow sufficient time for completion of the ATOP procedures during the normal business hours of DTC on such date.

Signature Guarantees

All signatures on a Letter of Transmittal and Consent or a notice of withdrawal, as the case may be, must be guaranteed by a recognized participant in the Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program, the New York Stock Exchange Medallion Signature Program or the Stock Exchange Medallion Program (each, a Medallion Signature Guarantor) unless the Normal ITS tendered or withdrawn, as the case may be, pursuant thereto are tendered (1) by the DTC participant whose name appears on a security position listing as the owner of Normal

43

Table of Contents

ITS who has not completed the box entitled Special Payment Instructions or Special Delivery Instructions on the Letter of Transmittal and Consent or (2) for the account of a member firm of a registered national securities exchange, a member of Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. or a commercial bank, trust company or other nominee having an office or correspondent in the United States. If Normal ITS are registered in the name of a person other than the signer of a Letter of Transmittal and Consent or a notice of withdrawal, as the case may be, or if delivery of the Depositary Shares is to be made or tendered Normal ITS that are not accepted are to be returned to a person other than the holder, then the signature on the Letter of Transmittal and Consent accompanying the tendered Normal ITS must be guaranteed by a Medallion Signature Guarantor as described above.

Determination of Validity

All questions as to the form of all documents and the validity, form, eligibility (including time of receipt) and acceptance of all tenders and withdrawals of Normal ITS will be determined by us, the determination of which shall be final and binding absent a finding to the contrary by a court of competent jurisdiction. Alternative, conditional or contingent tenders will not be considered valid. We reserve the absolute right to reject any or all tenders of Normal ITS that are not in proper form or the acceptance of which would, in the opinion of our counsel, be unlawful or result in a breach of contract. We also reserve the right to waive any defects, irregularities or conditions of tender as to particular Normal ITS. A waiver of any defect of irregularity with respect to the tender of one Normal ITS shall not constitute a waiver of the same or any other defect or irregularity with respect to the tender of any other Normal ITS except to the extent we may otherwise so provide. Our interpretations of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation will be final and binding. Tenders of Normal ITS shall not be deemed to have been made until any defects or irregularities have been cured or waived by the Company. None of us, the trustees, the Information and Exchange Agent, the Dealer Managers any other person will be under any duty to give notice of any defects or irregularities in tenders of Normal ITS, or will incur any liability to you for failure to give any such notice.

Compliance with Short Tendering Rule

It is a violation of Rule 14e-4 under the Exchange Act for a person, directly or indirectly, to tender Normal ITS for such person s own account unless the person so tendering (1) has a net long position equal to or greater than the aggregate principal amount of the Normal ITS being tendered and (2) will cause such Normal ITS to be delivered in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Offer. Rule 14e-4 provides a similar restriction applicable to the tender or guarantee of a tender on behalf of another person.

A tender of Normal ITS in response to the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation under any of the procedures described above will constitute a binding agreement between the tendering holder and us with respect to the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, including the tendering holder succeptance of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, as well as the tendering holder succeptance of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, as well as the tendering holder succeptance of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, as well as the tendering holder succeptance of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, as well as the tendering holder succeptance of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, as well as the tendering holder succeptance of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, as well as the tendering holder succeptance of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, as well as the tendering holder succeptance of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Exchange Offer within the meaning of Rule 14e-4 under the Exchange Act and (2) the tender of such Normal ITS complies with Rule 14e-4.

Procedures for Providing Consent without Tendering

All Letters of Transmittal and Consent that are properly executed and received by the Information and Exchange Agent at or prior to the Expiration Date and not timely revoked will be given effect in accordance with the terms thereof.

Holders, and any beneficial owner whose Normal ITS are held of record by a broker, dealer, commercial bank or other nominee, who wish to provide a Consent should so indicate by signing and dating a Letter of Transmittal and Consent,

including marking the applicable box under the heading Tender of Normal ITS and Delivery of Consents stating that such holder is delivering Consents without otherwise tendering related

44

Table of Contents

Normal ITS, and delivering it to the Information and Exchange Agent in accordance with the instructions contained herein and therein, have the signatures guaranteed, if required, in accordance with the instructions set forth therein. See the section above entitled Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation Signature Guarantees. Delivery of Letters of Transmittal and Consent should be made sufficiently in advance of the Expiration Date to assure that the Letter of Transmittal and Consent is received prior to the Expiration Date.

The Letter of Transmittal and Consent must be completed in exactly the same names and addresses of the holders as they appear on a security position listing with a DTC participant as the owner of the Normal ITS.

If a Consent relates to fewer than all the Normal ITS held of record as of the Record Date by the person providing such Consent, such person must indicate on the Letter of Transmittal and Consent the aggregate dollar amount (in integral multiples of \$1,000) of such Normal ITS to which the Consent relates. Otherwise, the Consent will be deemed to relate to all such Normal ITS held by such consenting holder.

We reserve the right to receive Letters of Transmittal and Consent by any other reasonable means or in any form that reasonably evidences the giving of Consent.

All questions as to the as to the form of all documents and the validity, form, eligibility (including time of receipt) and acceptance of Consents and revocations of Consents will be resolved by us and such determinations shall be final and binding absent a finding to the contrary by a court of competent jurisdiction. Alternative, conditional or contingent Consents will not be considered valid. We reserve the absolute right to reject any or all Consents that are not in proper form or the acceptance of which could, in the opinion of our counsel, be unlawful or result in a breach of contract. We also reserve the right to waive any defects, irregularities or conditions to Consents as to Normal ITS. A waiver of any such defect or irregularity with respect to the Consent in respect of one of the Normal ITS shall not constitute a waiver of the same or any other defect or irregularity with respect the Consents in respect of any other Normal ITS, except to the extent we may otherwise so provide. Our interpretations of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, including the instructions in the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent, will be final and binding. No Consents as to any Normal ITS will be deemed to have been validly made until all defects or irregularities with respect to such Normal ITS have been cured or waived by us. All consenting holders, by execution of the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent or a facsimile hereof, waive any right to receive notice of the acceptance of their Consents. None of us, the trustees, the Information and Exchange Agent or any other person will be under any duty to give notice of any defects or irregularities in Consents, or will incur any liability for failure to give any such notice.

Acceptance of Normal ITS for Purchase; Delivery of Depositary Shares

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Exchange Offer, including the possible proration discussed above under Proration, we will accept for exchange and promptly deliver on the settlement date, Depositary Shares representing interests in Preferred Stock in exchange for validly tendered Normal ITS that were not validly withdrawn pursuant to the Exchange Offer.

For purposes of the Exchange Offer, we will be deemed to have accepted Normal ITS for exchange if, as and when we give oral (promptly confirmed in writing) or written notice thereof to the Information and Exchange Agent.

With respect to tendered Normal ITS that are to be returned to holders, such Normal ITS will be credited to the account maintained at DTC from which such Normal ITS were delivered, returned in accordance with such procedures after the expiration or termination of the Exchange Offer, unless other instructions were given by the holder in the Letter of Transmittal and Consent or to the book-entry transfer facility.

We will deliver Depositary Shares in exchange for and pay accrued distributions on Normal ITS accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer by issuing the Depositary Shares and paying such accrued distributions on the settlement date to the Information and Exchange Agent, which will act as your agent for the purpose of receiving the Depositary Shares and accrued distributions and transmitting the Depositary Shares and accrued distributions to you. We will similarly pay Consent Fees with respect to the liquidation amount of Normal ITS

45

Table of Contents

as to which a Consent was delivered in the Consent Solicitation without an accompanying tender of Normal ITS (or with respect to the liquidation amount of any Normal ITS that were not accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer due to proration as described above under Proration) by paying such Consent Fees on the settlement date to the Information and Exchange Agent, which will act as your agent for the purpose of receiving the Consent Fees and transmitting the Consent Fees to you. Tendering holders of the Normal ITS, or holders who wish to deliver a separate Consent, as the case may be, should indicate in the applicable box in the Letter of Transmittal and Consent or, if applicable, to the book-entry transfer facility in the case of holders who electronically transmit their acceptance through ATOP, the name and address to which delivery of the Depositary Shares and payment of accrued distributions on the Normal ITS accepted for exchange or Consent Fees, as the case may be, is to be sent, if different from the name and address of the person signing the Letter of Transmittal and Consent or transmitting such acceptance through ATOP.

We expressly reserve the right, subject to applicable law, to (1) delay acceptance for exchange of Normal ITS tendered under any of the Exchange Offer or the delivery of Depositary Shares in exchange for the Normal ITS accepted for purchase (subject to Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act, which requires that we pay the consideration offered or return the Normal ITS deposited by or on behalf of the holders promptly after the termination or withdrawal of any of the Exchange Offer) or (2) terminate or withdraw the Exchange Offer at any time.

If, for any reason, acceptance for exchange of validly tendered Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer is delayed, or we are unable to accept for exchange validly tendered Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer, then the Exchange Agent may, nevertheless, on behalf of us, retain (subject to Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act described above) tendered Normal ITS, without prejudice to our rights described above under the sections entitled Expiration Date; Extension; Termination; Amendment and Conditions of the Exchange Offer and the section below entitled Withdrawal of Tenders.

We reserve the right to transfer or assign, in whole or from time to time in part, to one or more of our affiliates or any third party the right to exchange all or any of the Normal ITS tendered pursuant to the Exchange Offer for the Preferred Stock and accrued distributions due with respect to the Normal ITS, but any such transfer or assignment will not relieve us of our obligations under the Exchange Offer and will in no way prejudice your rights to receive the Preferred Stock and accrued distributions on Normal ITS validly tendered and not validly withdrawn and accepted for payment pursuant to the Exchange Offer as provided for herein.

You will not be obliged to pay brokerage commissions or fees to the Dealer Managers, the Exchange Agent, the Information Agent or us with respect to the Exchange Offer.

We will pay all transfer taxes applicable to the purchase and transfer of Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer, except if the delivery of the Depositary Shares and payment of any Consent Fee and/or accrued distributions is being made to, or if Normal ITS not tendered or not accepted for payment are registered in the name of, any person other than the holder of Normal ITS tendered thereby or Normal ITS are credited in the name of any person other than the person(s) signing the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent or electronically transmitting acceptance through ATOP, as applicable; then, in such event, delivery and payment shall not be made unless satisfactory evidence of the payment of such taxes or exemption therefrom is submitted.

We will not be liable for any interest as a result of a delay by the Exchange Agent or DTC in distributing the consideration for the Exchange Offer or the Consent Solicitation.

Withdrawal of Tenders

You may withdraw your tender of Normal ITS at any time at or prior to the Expiration Date. You may only withdraw your tender of Normal ITS after the Expiration Date as permitted by law.

46

Table of Contents

For a withdrawal of a tender of Normal ITS to be effective, a written or facsimile transmission notice of withdrawal must be received by the Exchange Agent at or prior to the Expiration Date, by mail, fax or hand delivery or by a properly transmitted Request Message through ATOP. Any such notice of withdrawal must:

specify the name of the person who tendered the Normal ITS to be withdrawn and the name of the DTC participant whose name appears on the security position listing as the owner of such Normal ITS, if different from that of the person who deposited the Normal ITS;

contain the aggregate number of Normal ITS to be withdrawn;

unless transmitted through ATOP, be signed by the holder thereof in the same manner as the original signature on the Letter of Transmittal and Consent, including any required signature guarantee(s); and

if the Letter of Transmittal and Consent was executed by a person other than the DTC participant whose name appears on a security position listing as the owner of Normal ITS, be accompanied by a properly completed irrevocable proxy that authorized such person to effect such withdrawal on behalf of such holder.

Withdrawal of previously tendered Normal ITS can only be accomplished in accordance with the foregoing procedures.

Holders may not rescind their valid withdrawals of tendered Normal ITS. However, Normal ITS that have been validly withdrawn may thereafter be retendered at any time at or prior to the Expiration Date by following the procedures described above under

Procedures for Participating in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation.

All questions as to the form and validity (including time of receipt) of any notice of withdrawal of a tender will be determined by us, which determination shall be final and binding. We reserve the absolute right to reject any or all attempted withdrawals of Normal ITS that are not in proper form or the acceptance of which would, in our opinion, be unlawful. We also reserve the right to waive any defects, irregularities or conditions of a withdrawal as to particular Normal ITS. A waiver of any defect or irregularity with respect to the withdrawal of one Normal ITS shall not constitute a waiver of the same or any other defect or irregularity with respect to the withdrawal of any other Normal ITS except to the extent we may otherwise so provide. Withdrawals of Normal ITS shall not be deemed to have been made until any defects or irregularities have been waived by us or cured. None of us, the trustee, the Information and Exchange Agent, the Dealer Managers or any other person will be under any duty to give notification of any defect or irregularity in any notice of withdrawal of a tender or incur any liability for failure to give any such notification.

Withdrawal of Consents with Respect to Normal ITS that were not Tendered

If you have not tendered any Normal ITS but have Consented to the Proposed Amendments, you may revoke such Consents by sending a written notice of revocation at any time at or prior to the Expiration Date. Any notice of revocation received after the Expiration Date will not be effective. The delivery of Consents by a holder (or its nominee) will bind the holder (or its nominee) and every subsequent holder of such Normal ITS or portion of such Normal ITS, even if notation of the Consents is not made on such Normal ITS.

To be effective, a notice of revocation must be given by properly completed and executed notice of withdrawal accompanying the Letter of Transmittal and Consent. All revocations of Consents must be sent to the Information and Exchange Agent at its address set forth in the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent.

Holders may not rescind revocations of Consents. However, a holder may deliver a new Consent by delivering a new Letter of Transmittal and Consent or by retendering Normal ITS through ATOP at any time on or prior to the

Expiration Date.

Prior to the Expiration Date, we intend to consult with the Information and Exchange Agent to determine whether the Information and Exchange Agent has received any revocations of Consents. We reserve the right to contest the validity of any purported revocations.

47

Table of Contents

Return of Unaccepted Normal ITS

Any tendered Normal ITS that are not accepted for exchange will be returned without expense to the tendering holder. Such Normal ITS will be credited to the account maintained at DTC from which they were delivered and returned promptly after the expiration or termination of the Exchange Offer.

Security Ownership

Neither we nor any of our executive officers or directors, nor any associates or subsidiaries of any of the foregoing, owns any Normal ITS or has effected any transactions involving the Normal ITS during the 60 days prior to the date of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement.

Consequences of Failure to Exchange Normal ITS

Depending on the amount of Normal ITS that are accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer, the trading market for the Normal ITS that remain outstanding after the Exchange Offer may be significantly more limited. A reduced trading volume may decrease the price and increase the volatility of the trading price of the Normal ITS that remain outstanding following the Exchange Offer. See Risk Factors.

Following the completion of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation, and the effectiveness of the Proposed Amendments, (1) the Trust will retire the Normal ITS we acquire in the Exchange Offer, (2) the corresponding Underlying Notes will be transferred to us by the Trust and surrendered by us to the Indenture trustee for cancellation and (3) the corresponding stock purchase contracts will be terminated in connection with the delivery of Depositary Shares to the exchanging holders of Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer and in exchange for a portion of the Underlying Notes. We currently expect to continue making distributions on the Normal ITS that are not acquired by us in the Exchange Offer in accordance with their terms.

No Appraisal Rights

No appraisal or dissenters rights are available to holders of Normal ITS under applicable law in connection with the Exchange Offer.

Accounting Treatment

With respect to Normal ITS exchanged for Depositary Shares, once we exchange the Normal ITS that we obtain through this Exchange Offer for the applicable like amount of Underlying Notes, we will derecognize the carrying amount of the Underlying Notes, which we currently record as long-term debt. The Preferred Stock represented by the Depositary Shares issued will be recorded at its par amount. The excess of the Preferred Stock s fair value over their par amount will be recorded in capital surplus. The excess of the net carrying amount of the Underlying Notes exchanged over the fair value of the stock purchase contracts and the Preferred Stock issued will be recorded in the current earnings of the period during which the transaction will occur.

Subsequent Repurchases

Following completion of the Exchange Offer, we may repurchase additional Normal ITS in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Future purchases of Normal ITS may be on terms that are more or less favorable than those of the Exchange Offer. Future repurchases, if any, will depend on many factors, including market conditions and the condition of our business.

Information and Exchange Agent

D.F. King & Co., Inc. will serve as the Exchange Agent for the Exchange Offer. Letters of Transmittal and Consent and all correspondence in connection with the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation should be sent or delivered by each holder of Normal ITS, or a beneficial owner s bank, broker, custodian or

48

Table of Contents

other nominee, to the Exchange Agent at the address listed on the back cover page of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement.

D.F. King & Co., Inc. will also serve as the Information Agent for the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation. Questions concerning tender procedures or consent procedures and requests for additional copies of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement or the Letter of Transmittal and Consent should be directed to the Information Agent at its address and telephone number listed on the back cover page of this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement. Holders of Normal ITS may also contact their bank, broker, custodian or other nominee concerning the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation.

We will pay the Information and Exchange Agent reasonable and customary fees for its services and will reimburse it for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.

Dealer Managers

Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. is acting as lead dealer manager, lead solicitation agent and structuring advisor, and U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc. is acting as co-dealer manager and co-solicitation agent, for the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation. In such capacity, the Dealer Managers will perform services customarily provided by investment banking firms acting as dealer manager of exchange offers of a like nature, including soliciting tenders of Normal ITS pursuant to the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation and communicating generally regarding the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation with banks, brokers, custodians, nominees and other persons, including holders of Normal ITS. We will pay the Dealer Managers reasonable and customary fees for their services and will reimburse them for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. We have also agreed to indemnify the Dealer Managers and their respective affiliates against certain liabilities in connection with their services, including liabilities under the federal securities laws.

At any given time, the Dealer Managers may trade in the Normal ITS or other of our securities for their own account or for the accounts of customers, and accordingly, may hold a long or a short position in the Normal ITS or such other securities. To the extent that the Dealer Managers or their respective affiliates own Normal ITS during the Exchange Offers and the Consent Solicitation, they may tender such Normal ITS pursuant to the terms of the Exchange Offer or alternatively deliver Consents with respect to such Normal ITS pursuant to the terms of the Consent Solicitation.

The Dealer Managers have provided in the past and/or is currently providing other investment and commercial banking and financial advisory services to us. The Dealer Managers and their respective affiliates may in the future provide various investment and commercial banking and other services to us for which they would receive customary compensation.

Conflicts of Interest

Because U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc. is our affiliate, the Exchange Offer is being conducted in compliance with the NASD Rule 2720, as administered by FINRA. Pursuant to that rule, the appointment of a qualified independent underwriter is not necessary in connection with this offering, as the offering is of a class of securities rated Baa3 or better by Moody s rating service or BBB- or better by Standard & Poor s rating service or rated in a comparable category by another rating service acceptable to FINRA.

Brokerage Commissions

Holders that tender their Normal ITS to the Exchange Agent do not have to pay a brokerage fee or commission to us or the Exchange Agent. However, if a tendering holder handles the transaction through its bank, broker, custodian or

nominee, that holder may be required to pay that bank, broker, custodian or nominee brokerage fees or commissions.

Fees and Expenses

We will bear the expenses of soliciting tenders of Normal ITS and Consents with respect thereto. The principal solicitation is being made by mail. Additional solicitation may, however, be made by e-mail,

49

Table of Contents

facsimile transmission or telephone or in person by our officers and other employees and those of our affiliates and others acting on our behalf.

No Recommendation

None of us, the trustees of the Trust, the Dealer Managers or the Information and Exchange Agent are making a recommendation as to whether you should exchange your Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer or Consent to the Proposed Amendments. We have not retained, and do not intend to retain, any unaffiliated representative to act on behalf of the holders of the Normal ITS for purposes of negotiating the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation or preparing a report concerning the fairness of the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation. The value of the Depositary Shares issued in the Exchange Offer may not equal or exceed the value of the Normal ITS tendered. You must make your own independent decision regarding your participation in the Exchange Offer and the Consent Solicitation.

Certain Matters Relating to Non-U.S. Jurisdictions

Although we will mail this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement to holders of the Normal ITS to the extent required by U.S. law, this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement is not an offer to sell or exchange and it is not a solicitation of an offer to buy or exchange securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer, sale, purchase or exchange is not permitted. Countries outside the United States generally have their own legal requirements that govern securities offerings made to persons resident in those countries and often impose stringent requirements about the form and content of offers made to the general public. We have not taken any action under those non-U.S. regulations to facilitate a public offer to exchange outside the United States. Therefore, the ability of any non-U.S. person to tender Normal ITS in the Exchange Offer will depend on whether there is an exemption available under the laws of such person s home country that would permit the person to participate in the Exchange Offer without the need for us to take any action to facilitate a public offering in that country or otherwise. For example, some countries exempt transactions from the rules governing public offerings if they involve persons who meet certain eligibility requirements relating to their status as sophisticated or professional investors. Non-U.S. holders should consult their advisors in considering whether they may participate in the Exchange Offer in accordance with the laws of their home countries and, if they do participate, whether there are any restrictions or limitations on transactions in the Preferred Stock that may apply in their home countries. Neither we nor the Dealer Managers can provide any assurance about whether such limitations may exist. By signing or being deemed to sign the accompanying Letter of Transmittal and Consent or tendering your Normal ITS through ATOP, you are representing that if you are located outside the United States the offer to you and your acceptance of it does not contravene the applicable laws where you are located.

50

Table of Contents

DESCRIPTION OF PREFERRED STOCK

The following section is a summary and does not describe every aspect of the Preferred Stock. In particular, we urge you to read our certificate of incorporation, as it describes the rights of holders of the Preferred Stock. We have filed our certificate of incorporation as an exhibit to the registration statement that we have filed with the SEC, of which this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement forms a part. The specific terms of the Preferred Stock will be specified in an amended certificate of designations adopted by our board of directors and filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware prior to the settlement date. This amended certificate of designations will be filed by pre-effective amendment to the registration statement of which this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement forms a part.

Authorized Preferred Stock

We are authorized to issue up to 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$1.00 per share (including the Preferred Stock represented by the Depositary Shares offered hereby). U.S. Bancorp has filed a certificate of designation designating the terms of the Preferred Stock with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. We will amend the existing terms of the Preferred Stock in connection with the Exchange Offer in order to provide holders with voting rights described below under
Voting Rights as well as to provide that dividends on the Preferred Stock will accrue at a rate of 7.189% *per annum* until the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date, as described below under
Dividends. On March 27, 2006, we issued depositary shares representing an ownership interest in 40,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and on March 17, 2008, we issued depositary shares representing an ownership interest in 20,000 shares of Series D Preferred Stock. The Series B Preferred Stock and Series D Preferred Stock have no stated maturity and are not subject to any sinking fund or other obligation for their repurchase or investment. Dividends, if declared, will accrue and be payable quarterly, in arrears, at a rate *per annum* equal to the greater of Three-Month LIBOR plus 0.60%, or 3.50% on the Series B Preferred Stock, and 7.875% *per annum* on the Series D Preferred Stock. Both series are redeemable at our option, subject to the prior approval of the Federal Reserve.

General

The depositary will be the sole holder of the Preferred Stock, as described below under the section entitled Description of Depositary Shares, and all references in this Prospectus and Consent Solicitation Statement to the holders of the Preferred Stock shall mean the depositary. However, the holders of Depositary Shares will be entitled, through the depositary, to exercise the rights and preferences of the holders of the Preferred Stock, as described below under the section entitled Description of Depositary Shares. When issued, the Preferred Stock will be validly issued, fully paid, and non-assessable. The holders of the Preferred Stock will have no preemptive rights with respect to any shares of our capital stock or any of its other securities convertible into or carrying rights or options to purchase any such capital stock.

The holders of Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive non-cumulative cash dividends when, as and if declared out of assets legally available for payment in respect of such Preferred Stock by our board of directors in its sole discretion. In the event we do not declare dividends or do not pay dividends in full on the Preferred Stock on any date on which dividends are due, then such unpaid dividends will not cumulate and will no longer accrue and be payable.

When issued, the Preferred Stock will have a fixed liquidation preference, or Liquidation Preference, of \$100,000 per share, or up to \$1,250,000,000 in the aggregate. On our liquidation, dissolution or winding up of affairs, holders of Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive such Liquidation Preference per share, together with an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends for the then-current dividend period to the date of payment. The Preferred Stock is

perpetual and will not be convertible into shares of our common stock or any other class or series of its capital stock, and will not be subject to any sinking fund or other obligation for their repurchase or retirement.

We will issue Depositary Shares to tendering holders of Normal ITS in connection with the Exchange Offer. We may also issue Preferred Stock to the Trust on the Stock Purchase Date.

51

Table of Contents

Rank

The Preferred Stock will rank senior to our common stock and to any other securities that we may issue in the future that are subordinate to the Preferred Stock. As of the date hereof, there are no shares of our authorized preferred stock that would rank senior to the Preferred Stock authorized, issued or outstanding. The Preferred Stock will rank on a parity with the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series D Preferred Stock. We may authorize and issue additional shares of preferred stock that may rank junior to, on parity with or senior to the Preferred Stock as to dividend rights and rights upon liquidation, winding up or dissolution without the consent of the holders of the Preferred Stock. Each series of our authorized preferred stock will, with respect to dividend rights and rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, rank prior or superior to common stock. All shares of each series of our authorized preferred stock will be of equal rank with each other. The Preferred Stock and any other series of preferred stock will rank equal or junior to, but not prior or superior to, any series of preferred stock.

With respect to the payment of dividends and amounts upon liquidation, the Preferred Stock will rank equally with any other class or series of our capital stock that ranks on a par with the Preferred Stock in the payment of dividends and in the distribution of assets on our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, if any, or Parity Stock, and will rank senior to our common stock and any other class or series of our stock over which the Preferred Stock has preference or priority in the payment of dividends or in the distribution of assets on our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or Junior Stock. In particular, during a Dividend Period, no dividend will be paid or declared and no distribution will be made on any Junior Stock, other than a dividend payable solely in Junior Stock, no shares of Junior Stock shall be repurchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by us, directly or indirectly (other than as a result of reclassification of Junior Stock for or into Junior Stock, or the exchange or conversion of one share of Junior Stock for or into another share of Junior Stock, and other than through the use of the proceeds of a substantially contemporaneous sale of other shares of Junior Stock), nor shall any monies be paid to or made available for a sinking fund for the redemption of any such securities by us, and no shares of Parity Stock shall be purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by us otherwise than pursuant to pro rata offers to purchase all, or a pro rata portion, of the Preferred Stock and such Parity Stock except by conversion into or exchange for Junior Stock, unless full dividends for such Dividend Period on all outstanding shares of Preferred Stock have been paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof set aside.

For any Dividend Period in which dividends are not paid in full upon the Preferred Stock and other Parity Stock having the same restrictions on the declaration and payment of dividends as the Preferred Stock, all dividends declared for such Dividend Period with respect to the Preferred Stock and such other Parity Stock shall be declared on a *pro rata* basis.

Dividends

Dividends on shares of the Preferred Stock will not be mandatory. Holders of the Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive, if, when and as declared by our board of directors out of legally available assets, non-cumulative cash dividends on the Liquidation Preference, which is \$100,000 per share of Preferred Stock. These dividends will be payable on the following dates, or Dividend Payment Dates: (1) from the settlement date of the Exchange Offer to the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date, semi-annually in arrears on each April 15 and October 15 through the later of April 15, 2011 and (i) the Stock Purchase Date (if the Stock Purchase Date is also a Dividend Payment Date) or (ii) the Dividend Payment Date immediately preceding the Stock Purchase Date (if the Stock Purchase Date is not a Dividend Payment Date), and (2) from and including the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date, quarterly in arrears on each January 15, April 15, July 15 or October 15 (or, in the case of this clause (2) if such day is not a business day, the next business day). If any portion of a declared semi-annual dividend payment has accrued but has not been paid as of the Stock Purchase Date, such accrued amount shall be paid on the Stock Purchase Date. We refer to the period from and including the date of issuance of the Preferred Stock or any

Dividend Payment Date to but excluding the next Dividend Payment Date as a Dividend Period. Dividends on each share of Preferred Stock will accrue on the liquidation preference of \$100,000 per share (1) from the date of issuance to but not including the later of the Dividend Payment Date in April 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date at a

52

Table of Contents

rate *per annum* equal to 7.189% and (2) thereafter for each related Dividend Period at a rate *per annum* equal to the greater of (i) Three-Month LIBOR plus 1.02% or (ii) 3.50%. In the case that any date on which dividends are payable on the Preferred Stock is not a business day, then payment of the dividend payable on that date will be made on the next succeeding day that is a business day. However, no interest or other payment shall be paid in respect of the delay. The record date for payment of dividends on the Preferred Stock will be the last day of the immediately preceding calendar month during which the Dividend Payment Date falls. The amount of dividends payable for any Dividend Period prior to the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months and dividends for periods beginning on or after such date will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year and the number of days actually elapsed.

Three-Month LIBOR means, with respect to any Dividend Period beginning on or after the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date, the rate (expressed as a percentage per annum) for deposits in U.S. dollars for a three-month period commencing on the first day of that Dividend Period that appears on Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page as of 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the second London Banking Day preceding the first day of that Dividend Period. If the rate described above does not appear on Reuters Screen LIBOR01, Three-Month LIBOR will be determined on the basis of the rates at which deposits in U.S. dollars for a three-month period commencing on the first day of that Dividend Period and in a principal amount of not less than \$1,000,000 are offered to prime banks in the London interbank market by four major banks in the London interbank market selected by us, at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on the second London Banking Day preceding the first day of that Dividend Period. U.S. Bank National Association, as Calculation Agent for the Preferred Stock, will request the principal London office of each of such banks to provide a quotation of its rate. If at least two such quotations are provided, Three-Month LIBOR with respect to that Dividend Period will be the arithmetic mean (rounded upward if necessary to the nearest .00001 of 1%) of such quotations. If fewer than two quotations are provided, Three-Month LIBOR with respect to that Dividend Period will be the arithmetic mean (rounded upward if necessary to the nearest .00001 of 1%) of the rates quoted by three major banks in New York, New York, selected by the Calculation Agent, at approximately 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the first day of that Dividend Period for loans in U.S. dollars to leading European banks for a three-month period commencing on the first day of that Dividend Period and in a principal amount of not less than \$1,000,000. However, if the banks selected by the Calculation Agent to provide quotations are not quoting as described above, Three-Month LIBOR for that Dividend Period will be the same as Three-Month LIBOR as determined for the previous Dividend Period, or in the case of the first Dividend Period, the most recent rate that could have been determined in accordance with the first sentence of this paragraph had the Preferred Stock been outstanding. The calculation agent s establishment of Three-Month LIBOR and calculation of the amount of dividends for each Dividend Period will be on file at our principal offices, will be made available to any holder of Preferred Stock upon request and will be final and binding in the absence of manifest error.

London Banking Day means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in deposits in U.S. dollars) in London.

Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page means the display designated on the Reuters 3000 Xtra (or such other page as may replace that page on that service or such other service as may be nominated by the British Bankers Association for the purpose of displaying London interbank offered rates for U.S. dollar deposits).

The right of holders of the Preferred Stock to receive dividends is non-cumulative. If our board of directors does not declare a dividend on the Preferred Stock or declares less than a full dividend in respect of any Dividend Period, the holders of the Preferred Stock will have no right to receive any dividend or a full dividend, as the case may be, for that Dividend Period, and we will have no obligation to pay a dividend or to pay full dividends for that Dividend Period, whether or not dividends are declared and paid for any future Dividend Period with respect to the Preferred Stock, Parity Stock, Junior Stock or any other class or series of our authorized preferred stock.

When dividends are not paid in full upon the Preferred Stock and any other Parity Stock, dividends upon that stock will be declared on a proportional basis so that the amount of dividends declared per share will bear

53

Table of Contents

to each other the same ratio that accrued dividends for the current Dividend Period per share on the Preferred Stock, and accrued dividends, including any accumulations on such Parity Stock, bear to each other. No interest will be payable in respect of any dividend payment on the Preferred Stock that may be in arrears. If we determine not to pay any dividend or a full dividend, we will provide prior written notice to the property trustee, who will notify holders of Normal ITS and Stripped ITS, if then outstanding, and the administrative trustees.

We have agreed not to make any payment of principal of or interest on, repay or redeem any debt securities ranking *pari passu* or junior to the junior subordinated debentures issued under various indentures if, at that time, there is a default under the applicable indenture or we have delayed interest payments thereon. Currently, there is approximately \$4.6 billion aggregate principal amount of junior subordinated debentures outstanding under these indentures.

We are subject to various general regulatory policies and requirements relating to the payment of dividends, including requirements to maintain adequate capital above regulatory minimums. The Federal Reserve is authorized to determine, under certain circumstances relating to the financial condition of a bank holding company, such as us, that the payment of dividends would be an unsafe or unsound practice and to prohibit payment thereof. In addition, we are subject to Delaware state laws relating to the payment of dividends.

Redemption

We may not redeem the Preferred Stock prior to the later of April 15, 2011 and the Stock Purchase Date. Thereafter, so long as full dividends on all outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock for the then-current Dividend Period have been paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof set aside, and subject to receipt of the regulatory approvals discussed below, we, at the option of our board of directors, may redeem the Preferred Stock in whole or in part at any time. Any such redemption shall be at the redemption price of \$100,000 per share plus dividends that have been declared but not paid plus accrued and unpaid dividends for the then current Dividend Period to the redemption date. If fewer than all of the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock are to be redeemed, the Preferred Stock to be redeemed will be selected either *pro rata* from the holders of record of the Preferred Stock in proportion to the number of shares of Preferred Stock held by such holders or by lot or in such other manner as our board of directors may determine to be fair and equitable.

Subject to this section and to receipt of the regulatory approvals discussed below, our board of directors will have the full power and authority to prescribe the terms and conditions upon which Preferred Stock will be redeemed from time to time. We will mail notice of every redemption of Preferred Stock by first class mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the holders of record of the Preferred Stock to be redeemed at their respective last addresses appearing on our books. Such mailing will be at least 30 days and not more than 60 days before the date fixed for redemption. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Preferred Stock is held in book-entry form through DTC, we may give such notice in any manner permitted by DTC. Any notice mailed as provided in this paragraph will be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the holder receives such notice, but failure duly to give such notice by mail, or any defect in such notice or in the mailing of such notice, to any holder of the Preferred Stock designated for redemption will not affect the redemption of any other Preferred Stock. If we redeem the Preferred Stock, the depositary, as holder of the Preferred Stock, will redeem the corresponding Depositary Shares.

Each notice shall state:

the redemption date;

the number of shares of Preferred Stock to be redeemed;

the redemption price;

the place or places where the Preferred Stock are to be redeemed; and

that dividends on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on the redemption date.

54

Table of Contents

All shares of Preferred Stock we redeem, purchase or acquire shall be cancelled and restored to the status of authorized but unissued shares of our authorized preferred stock, undesignated as to series.

Redemption or Repurchase Subject to Restrictions

Our right to redeem the Preferred Stock once issued is subject to two important limitations.

First, under the Federal Reserve s risk-based capital guidelines applicable to bank holding companies, any redemption of the Preferred Stock is subject to prior approval of the Federal Reserve. Moreover, we have agreed with the Federal Reserve that, unless it authorizes us to do otherwise in writing, we will redeem the Preferred Stock only if it is replaced with other tier 1 capital that is not a restricted core capital element—for example, common stock or another series of non-cumulative perpetual preferred stock.

Second, at or prior to the initial issuance of the Preferred Stock, we will enter into a replacement capital covenant (the Replacement Capital Covenant) relating to the shares of Preferred Stock we will issue in the Exchange Offer. The Replacement Capital Covenant will limit our ability to redeem the Preferred Stock prior to the termination date of the Replacement Capital Covenant. See below under the section entitled Certain Terms of the Replacement Capital Cove